ลำดับทางพันธุกรรมแบบสมบูรณ์ของไวรัส PORCINE EPIDEMIC DIARRHEA ในประเทศเวียดนาม

นางสาวดาม ถิ วุย

บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาพยาธิชีววิทยาทางสัตวแพทย์ ภาควิชาพยาธิวิทยา คณะสัตวแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2557 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

COMPLETE GENOME SEQUENCE OF PORCINE EPIDEMIC DIARRHEA VIRUS IN VIETNAM



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Veterinary Pathobiology Department of Veterinary Pathology Faculty of Veterinary Science Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2014 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	COMPLETE (GENOME	SEQUENCE	OF	PORCINE
	EPIDEMIC DIA	RRHEA VIF	RUS IN VIETN	AM	
Ву	Miss Dam Thi Vui				
Field of Study	Veterinary Pathobiology				
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor Doctor Dachrit Nilubol			วเ	

Accepted by the Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

> Dean of the Faculty of Veterinary Science (Professor Doctor Roongroje Thanawongnuwech)

THESIS COMMITTEE

Chairman
(Associate Professor Doctor Kanisak Oraveerakul)
Thesis Advisor
(Assistant Professor Doctor Dachrit Nilubol)
Examiner
(Assistant Professor Doctor Channarong Rodkhum)
External Examiner
(Doctor Teerapong Yata)
External Examiner

(Associate Professor Doctor To Long Thanh)

ดาม ถิ วุย : ลำดับทางพันธุกรรมแบบสมบูรณ์ของไวรัส PORCINE EPIDEMIC DIARRHEA ในประเทศเวียดนาม (COMPLETE GENOME SEQUENCE OF PORCINE EPIDEMIC DIARRHEA VIRUS IN VIETNAM) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: ผศ. น.สพ. ดร. เดชฤทธิ์ นิลอุบล, 69 หน้า.

โรคพีอีดี (Porcine epidemic diarrhea, PED) เกิดจากเชื้อไวรัสพีอีดี ที่เป็นอาร์ เอ็นเอไวรัสแบบมีเปลือกหุ้ม ในจีนัส Alphacoronavirus ตระกูล Coronaviridae ออเดอร์ Nidovirales ประเทศเวียดนามพบโรคพีอีดีเป็นครั้งแรกในปี ค.ศ. 2009 การศึกษานี้ได้นำเชื้อไวรัสพี อีดีจำนวน 3 ไอโซเลท ที่แยกได้จากลูกสุกรอายุ 3 สัปดาห์แสดงอาการท้องเสีย จากฟาร์มในประเทศ เวียดนาม มาทำการถอดรหัสพันธุกรรมทั้งสาย โดยเชื้อ 2 ไอโซเลทมาจากฟาร์มในเขตภาคใต้ และอีก 1 ไอโซเลตมาจากฟาร์มในเขตภาคเหนือ สายพันธุกรรมของเชื้อไวรัสทั้ง 3 ไอโซเลท มีความยาว 28,035 นิวคลีโอไทด์ และมีโครงสร้างทางพันธุกรรมและการจัดเรียงตัวของจีโนมเหมือนไวรัสพีอีดี ทั่วไป มีลำดับยีน 5'-ORF1a/1b-S-ORF3-E-M-N-3' เชื้อทั้ง 3 ไอโซเลท มีความเหมือนกันที่ 99.8% และ 99.6% ในระดับนิวคลีโอไทด์และกรดอะมิโนตามลำดับ ลักษณะสำคัญของเชื้อไวรัสพีอีดีทั้ง 3 ไอโซเลทนี้คือ มีการเติมของกรดอะมิโน 4 ตัว (GENO) และ 1 กรดอะมิโน (N) ที่ตำแหน่ง 56-59 และ 140 และการขาดหายไปของกรดอะมิโน 2 ตัว (DG) ที่ตำแหน่ง 160 และ 161 จากการทำ แผนภูมิต้นไม้วงศ์วานวิวัฒนาการจากสายพันธุกรรมทั้งสายพบว่า เชื้อไวรัสพีอีดีทั้ง 3 ไอโซเลทอยู่ใน กลุ่ม New variants กลุ่มนี้เป็นเชื้อไวรัสพีอีดีสายพันธุ์ใหม่ ที่ก่อให้เกิดการระบาดครั้งใหญ่ในประเทศ จีน ระหว่างปี ค.ศ. 2011-2012 และมีความแตกต่างทางพันธุกรรมจากเชื้อไวรัสพีอีดีสายพันธุ์ดั้งเดิม จากผลการศึกษาครั้งนี้สรุปได้ว่าเชื้อไวรัสพีอีดีที่แยกได้จากประเทศเวียดนาม เป็นเชื้อไวรัสพีอีดีสาย พันธุ์ใหม่และมีลักษณะทางพันธุกรรมที่ใกล้เคียงกับเชื้อไวรัสพีอีดีสายพันธุ์ใหม่ของประเทศจีน ผล การศึกษาครั้งนี้ทำให้เกิดความเข้าใจเกี่ยวกับลักษณะทางพันธุกรรมของเชื้อไวรัสพีอีดีที่แยกได้จาก ประเทศเวียดนาม

ภาควิชา	พยาธิวิทยา
สาขาวิชา	พยาธิชีววิทยาทางสัตวแพทย์
ปีการศึกษา	2557

ลายมือชื่อนิสิต	
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก	

.. .!

5675328231 : MAJOR VETERINARY PATHOBIOLOGY

KEYWORDS: CHARACTERIZATION / COMPLETE GENOME / PORCINE EPIDEMIC DIARRHEA / VIETNAM

DAM THI VUI: COMPLETE GENOME SEQUENCE OF PORCINE EPIDEMIC DIARRHEA VIRUS IN VIETNAM. ADVISOR: ASST. PROF. DR. DACHRIT NILUBOL, 69 pp.

Porcine epidemic diarrhea (PED) is caused by PED virus (PEDV), an enveloped, positive-sense, single-stranded RNA virus belonging to the genus Alphacoronavirus, family Coronaviridae, order Nidovirales. PEDV first emerged in Vietnam in 2009. In this study, the complete genomes of three Vietnamese PEDV isolates were characterized. These three isolates were isolated from 3-day-old pigs experiencing diarrhea. Two isolates were from swine farms in the south, and the other was from North Vietnam. The whole genome sequences of these isolates are 28,035 nucleotides in length and have a genome characterization similar to that of other PEDV isolates with gene order 5'-ORF1a/1b-S-ORF3-E-M-N-3'. All three Vietnamese PEDV isolates share 99.8% and 99.6% sequence identity at the nucleotide and amino acid levels, respectively and have characteristics including deletion and insertion in the spike gene, namely, the insertion of 4 amino acids (GENQ) and 1 amino acid (N) at positions 56-59 and 140, respectively, and one deletion of 2 amino acids (DG) at positions 160 and 161. Phylogenetic analysis based on the whole genome revealed that the three Vietnamese PEDV isolates are grouped together with new variants from China that were responsible for an outbreak of PEDV from 2011 to 2012, and genetically distinct from US isolates and the classical PEDV variant. The results suggest that Vietnamese PEDV isolates are new variants as evidenced by their unique genetic composition of insertions and a deletion in the spike gene and share high genetic similarity with the new variants of Chinese PEDV isolates. This study provides a better understanding of the molecular characteristics of PEDV in Vietnam.

Department:Veterinary PathologyStudent's SignatureField of Study:Veterinary PathobiologyAdvisor's SignatureAcademic Year:2014

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to thank "the Graduate Scholarship Program of Chulalongkorn University for faculty members for neighboring countries" for giving me "Ms. Dam Thi Vui" an opportunity to further my Msc study at the Veterinary Pathobiology program, Chulalongkorn University.

I would like to express my grateful to my advisor, Assistant Professor Dr. Dachrit Nilubol for useful guidance to perform the research and continuous kindly support throughout the master degree. In addition, I am also grateful to all of our lecturers in the Pathobiology program providing precious during my education and so on in which these valuable thing will support me and other peer graduate students during our future career.

I am so thankful to all staffs and graduate students at Department of Veterinary Microbiology, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University for sharing and helping the experiences and good techniques to fulfill my thesis.

I would like to thank the Virology section, National Center for Veterinary Diagnosis, Department of Animal Health, Vietnam that have facilitated and supported me to complete my program.

Lastly, I would like to thank you my beloved family that giving confidence in any my decision, greatest love and encouragement given me throughout my life.

CONTENTS

Page	č
THAI ABSTRACTiv	
ENGLISH ABSTRACTv	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSvi	
CONTENTS	
LIST OF TABLESix	
LIST OF FIGURESx	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Importance and Rationale	
1.2 Objectives of Study	
1.3 Hypothesis	
1.4 Research questions	
CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Characteristics of porcine epidemic diarrhea	
2.2 Molecular and genetic characteristic of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus	
2.3 Distribution of porcine epidemic diarrhea disease	
2.4 The study of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus11	
2.4.1 The study of PEDV across the world11	
2.4.2 The study of PEDV in Vietnam14	
CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1 Conceptual framework	
3.2 Virus and viral isolation	

viii

Page

3.3 Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction	
3.4 Cloning, plasmid purification and sequence determination	
3.5 Sequence analysis	
CHAPTERS IV RESULTS	
4.1 Viral isolation	
4.2 Sequencing results and phylogenetic analyses	
4.2.1 Whole genome sequence	
4.2.2 ORF1 replicase sequence	
4.2.3 The spike (S) gene sequence	
4.2.4 The ORF3 gene sequence	
4.2.5 The E gene sequence	
4.2.6 The M gene sequence	
4.2.7 The N gene sequence	
CHAPTER V DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	50
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX	64
APPENDIX A	65
APPENDIX B	
APPENDIX C	67
APPENDIX D	
VITA	69

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Primers used for sequencing reaction	20
Table 2. The reference PEDV strains for the full-length genomic nucleotide	
sequences used for sequence analysis and phylogenetic analysis were compared	
with current Vietnamese PEDV strains	21
Table 3. The nucleotide and amino acid identities of the three Vietnamese PEDV	
strains compare with other isolates available in Genbank based on whole	
genome sequence	26
Table 4. The amino acid identity of the ORF1 gene the Vietnamese PEDV strains	
compare to other isolates available in Genbank	27
Table 5. The nucleotide and amino acid homology of spike gene of the three	
Vietnamese PEDV isolates compared with Chinese strains in subgroup G2-3	30
Table 6. The homology of the nucleotide and deduce amino acid sequence of	
spike gene sequence between groups	31
Table 7. The nucleotide and amino acid identities of ORF3 gene of the three	
Vietnamese PEDV strains compare with other isolates available in Genbank	34
Table 8. The nucleotide and amino acid homology of envelope gene of the three	
Vietnamese PEDV strains compare with other isolates.	38
Table 9. The nucleotide and amino acid homology of membrane gene of the	
three Vietnamese PEDV strains compare with other isolates	41
Table 10. The nucleotide and amino acid homology of nucleocapsid gene of the	
three Vietnamese PEDV strains compare with other isolates	45

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Clinical signs and gross pathological lesions in piglets infected by PEDV	4
Figure 2. Mechanism of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus infection	5
Figure 3. The spike (S) protein structure of coronavirus	7
Figure 4. Phylogenetic tree based on the nucleotide sequences of the partial S	
and M gene of southern Vietnamese PEDV with those of other reference strains	
(Duy et al., 2011)	15
Figure 5. Conceptural framework	16
Figure 6. The cytopathic effect in Vero cells infected with Vietnamese PEDV	
strains.	23
Figure 7. Schematic diagram of genomic structure, and twelve overlapping cDNA	
fragments covering the entire PEDV genome for each of the three Vietnamese	
strains	24
Figure 8. Phylogenetic analysis by neighbor- joining method (bootstrapping for	
1000 replicase) based on the nucleotide sequences of whole genome of three	
Vietnamese PEDV strains with other isolates available in Genbank.1	25
Figure 9. Phylogenetic analysis by neighbor- joining method (bootstrapping for	
1000 replicase) based on the nucleotide sequences of ORF1 replicase of three	
Vietnamese PEDV strains with other isolates available in Genbank	28
Figure 10. Phylogenetic analysis by neighbor- joining method (bootstrapping for	
1000 replicase) based on the nucleotide sequences of spike gene of three	
Vietnamese PEDV strains with other isolates available in Genbank	32
Figure 11. Multiple amino acid sequences alignments of spike protein of	
Vietnamese PEDV isolates with other isolates available in Genbank	33

Figure 12. Phylogenetic analysis by neighbor-joining method (bootstrapping for
1000 replicase) based on the nucleotide sequences of ORF3 gene of three
Vietnamese PEDV strains with other isolates available in Genbank
Figure 13. Multiple amino acid sequences alignments of ORF3 protein of
Vietnamese PEDV isolates with other isolates available in Genbank
Figure 14. Phylogenetic analysis by neighbor- joining method (bootstrapping for
1000 replicase) based on the nucleotide sequences of envelope gene of three
Vietnamese PEDV with other isolates available in Genbank
Figure 15. Multiple amino acid sequences alignments of envelope protein of
Vietnamese PEDV isolates with other isolates available in Genbank
Figure 16. Phylogenetic analysis by neighbor- joining method (bootstrapping for
1000 replicase) based on the nucleotide sequences of membrane gene of three
Vietnamese PEDV strains with other isolates available in Genbank
Figure 17. Multiple amino acid sequences alignments of membrane protein of
Vietnamese PEDV isolates with other isolates available in Genbank
Figure 18. Phylogenetic analysis by neighbor- joining method (bootstrapping for
1000 replicase) based on the nucleotide sequences of nucleocapsid gene of
three Vietnamese PEDV strains with other isolates available in Genbank
Figure 19. Multiple amino acid sequences alignments of nucleocapsid protein of
Vietnamese PEDV isolates with other isolates available in Genbank

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

%	percentage
μι	Microliter
88	Amino acid
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle'smedium
E gene/protein	Envelope gene/protein
GM	The growth medium
HCoV-229E	Human coronavirus 299E
IBV	Infectious bronchitis virus
M gene/protein	Membrane gene/protein
MHV	Murine hepatitis virus
min	Minute
N gene/protein	Nucleocapsid gene/protein
nt	Nucleotide
°C	Degree Celsius
ORF gene	Open reading frame gene
PED(V)	Porcine epidemic diarrhea (virus)
RBD CHULAI	Receptor-binding domain
S gen/protein	Spike gene/protein
TGEV	Transmissible gastroenteritis virus
UTR	Untranslated region

Protein:

А	Alanine
С	Cysteine
D	Aspartic acid
E	Glutamic acid
F	phenylalanine
G	Glycine
Н	Histidine
1	Isoleucine
К	Lysine
L	Leucine
Μ	Methionine
Ν	Asparagine
Ρ	Proline
Q	Glutamine
R	Arginine
S	Serine
Т	Threonine
V	Valine
W	Tryptophan
Y	Tyrosine

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

1.1 Importance and Rationale

Porcine epidemic diarrhea (PED) is a devastating enteric disease caused by PED virus. PED is characterized by vomiting and acute watery diarrhea leading to severe dehydration and death. The disease is very infectious. Pigs of all ages are susceptible to PED and display clinical diseases with 100% morbidity (Pospischil et al., 2002). The disease, however, causes high mortality up to 100% in suckling pigs under 7 days of age.

PED was first identified in England in 1971. The disease subsequently spread to many pig herds in European countries including Switzerland, Germany, France, The Netherlands, and Bulgaria (Pensaert and Yeo, 2006). The causative agent was not identified as PEDV until in 1978 when PEDV was first identified in Belgium (Chasey and Cartwright, 1978; Pensaert and De Bouck, 1978), approximately 7 years after the initial recognition of the clinical diseases.

In Asia, PED was first identified in Japan in 1982 (Takahashi et al., 1983), China in 1986 (Chen et al., 2008), India in 2003 (Pensaert and Yeo, 2006), Thailand in 2007 (Puranaveja et al., 2009). Unlike on the European continent, PED has continued to be a devastating enteric disease and has impacted the economies of many Asian countries since it first emerged. At the time, PEDV was considered as an endemic pathogen in South East Asia (Pensaert and Yeo, 2006). However, the emergence of PED in North America in 2013 has made PEDV one of the most serious enteropathogenic diseases threatening the global swine industry.

PED virus (PEDV), an enveloped, positive-sense, single-stranded RNA virus belonging to the genus *Alphacoronavirus*, family *Coronaviridae*, order *Nidovirales* is the causative agent of PED. The phylogenetic analysis based on the full-length genome sequences of PEDV showed that all PEDV strains were further evolved into two distinct genogroups. At present, two variants of PEDV, designated classical and new variants, have been recognized. CV777 isolate was the prototype of classical variant. The full-length genome sequence of PEDV isolate CV777 was characterized

and demonstrated that PEDV had a close relationship with the human coronavirus (HCoV)-229E and transmissible gastroenteritis virus (TGEV) (Kocherhans et al., 2001). Genome order is ORF1a/b-spike (S)-ORF3-E-matrix (M)-Nucleocapsid (N).

Interestingly, all PEDV strains isolated in recent years were classified in group 2, genetically distant from the classical (Huang et al., 2013). The new PEDV variant was found in Korea and Thailand, and was reported as the new PEDV variant that caused the outbreak of diarrhea in pig farms in China in 2011 (Li et al., 2012).

The full-length genome sequence of new variants were characterized and demonstrated that the genome of the new variant were similar to the prototype CV777 PEDV strain with similar gene order, 5'-ORF1a/1b-S-ORF3-E-M-N-3' (Chen et al., 2011; Park et al., 2012; Zhao et al., 2012; Li et al., 2013), characterized by the notable insertion of 4 amino acid at position 56-59 and one amino acid at position 140, and the notable deletion of two amino acid located between amino acid 159-160 (Lee et al., 2010; Temeeyasen et al., 2013).

In Vietnam, porcine epidemic diarrhea emerged in 2009. The disease caused massive economic losses in the Vietnamese swine industry, particularly in southern provinces. Soon after the emergence, the disease spread throughout the major swine producing regions in Vietnam including Northern, Middle and Southern Vietnam. Currently, PED in Vietnam has developed into an endemic stage causing sporadic outbreaks. A report suggested that Vietnamese PEDV isolated in farms in Southern provinces during 2009-2010 were closely related to Chinese and Thai isolates (Duy et al., 2011). However, the study focused on partial S and M genes. Therefore, in order to understand the overall genetic diversity and evolutionary characteristics of Vietnamese PEDV strains, the determination of the whole genome is needed. Such data will demonstrate the epidemiological relationship between the Vietnamese PEDV strains and the source of introduction, and can be used to plan an appropriate prevention and control PED program including vaccination in the future.

1.2 Objectives of Study

The objectives of the study were to characterize the whole genome sequence of PEDV isolates in Vietnam, and establish those genome sequence data as benchmark references for sequence data for further molecular studies.

1.3 Hypothesis

Vietnamese PEDV isolates are new variant, and possess owning genetic characteristics in the full-length sequences.

1.4 Research questions

What are the molecular characteristics of complete PEDV genome sequence in Vietnam?

What is the difference between Vietnamese PEDV and classical PEDV isolates?

What is the relationship between Vietnamese and global PEDV isolates?

CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Characteristics of porcine epidemic diarrhea

Porcine epidemic diarrhea (PED), caused by PED virus (PEDV), is a contagious disease. The clinical symptoms include anorexia, vomiting, severe watery diarrhea and dehydration resulting in high mortality rates in sucking piglets under 7 days of age (Pensaert and Yeo, 2006) (Figure 1.A).

The small intestinal wall of infected pigs was congested with watery and undigested milk curd (Figure 1.B). Segmental enteritis was descripted by segmental disappearance of intestinal lacteal caused by malabsorption in intestinal parts affected (Puranaveja et al., 2009) (Figure 1.C and D).



Figure 1. Clinical signs and gross pathological lesions in piglets infected by PEDV. A) Severe diarrhea and dehydration in the suckling piglet (Pensaert and Yeo, 2006). B) Severe catarrhal enteritis with congestion (scale bar = 1 cm). C) Intestinal lacteals (arrow) grossly demonstrating normal absorption capacity of the intestinal villi in a normal piglet. D) Disappearance of intestinal lacteals (Puranaveja et al., 2009).

Therefore, the mechanism of viral replication of PEDV and the degeneration of villous are similar to TGE and other viral enteritis. The affected epithelial cells will be seen in the small and large intestines, around 12 to 18 hours and 5 days after inoculation (Pensaert and Yeo, 2006). The transmission of PEDV is maintained via feces or by oral. After PEDV passed through the defensive border of stomach fluid, the virus then attached to specific receptor porcine aminopeptidase N (Weiss and Navas-Martin, 2005; Li et al., 2007) and caused the changes in morphology and the intestinal tract's function characterized by villous atrophy. The atrophied intestinal tract lost the function of absorption due to the reduction of the digestive enzymatic activity. Consequently, that caused the changes in the digestion of lactose and cellular transportation and hydrolysis of nutrition. Finally, Pigs fell into the condition of mal-absorption, diarrhea and hydration, and sucking piglets died within few days (Sestak and Saif, 2002; Weiss and Navas-Martin, 2005; Pensaert and Yeo, 2006).



Figure 2. Mechanism of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus infection

2.2 Molecular and genetic characteristic of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus

The causative agent was identified as a coronavirus, PEDV (strains CV777) in Belgium in 1978 (Pensaert and De Bouck, 1978). PEDV is an enveloped, singlestranded, positive-sense RNA virus belonging to the order *Nidovirales*, the family *Coronaviridae*, subfamily *Corovirinae*, and genus *Alphacoronavirus*. PEDV genome is approximately 28 kb in length and includes 5' and 3' untranslated region (UTR) and 7 open reading frames (ORFs) (Kocherhans et al., 2001) that encode 4 structural proteins [spike (S), envelope (E), membrane (M), and nucleocapsid (N)] and three non-structural proteins (replicase 1a and 1b, and ORF3). The genomic organization of PEDV is arranged in the order 5[']- replicase (1a/1b)-S-ORF3-E-M-N-3'(Song and Park, 2012).

The polymerase gene is composed of the two largest ORFs, 1a and 1b, covering two-thirds of the full-length that is located at the 5' of the coronavirus genome, and encodes the non-structural replicase polyproteins (replicases 1a and 1b). The replicase gene, ORF1a and ORF1b has an overlapping region at a potential ribosomal frame shift site which was called "slippery sequence". It consists of a specific seven nucleotide (UUUAAAC) and a pseudoknot structure (Kocherhans et al., 2001; Chen et al., 2011). This region is required for the translation sequence of ORF1b (Chen et al., 2011). According to Kocherhans and colleagues, the amino acid sequence of ORF1b is more conserved than ORF1a compared to corresponding sequences of other coronavirus (Kocherhans et al., 2001). When comparison between amino acid sequence, ORF1a and 1b of PEDV had a close relationship with HCoV-229E and TGEV and less related to MHV and IBV (Kocherhans et al., 2001). The amino acid sequence of ORF1a is similar to the sequence of ORF1a of HCoV-229E and TGE that are 59.4% and 52.1%, respectively. The amino acid sequence of ORF1b shared 83.2 % and 80.3% identity to HCoV-229E and TGEV amino acid, respectively. Whereas, the similarity of amino acid sequence of ORF1a are 39.4% and 38.7%, respectively, compared to HCoV-229E and TGEV (Kocherhans et al., 2001).

The PEDV S protein is a type I glycoprotein. It consists of 1,383 amino acid. S protein is classed into sub-domain 1 and sub-domain 2 (Figure 3) (Woo et al., 2010; Shirato et al., 2011). Sub-domain 1 or N-terminal S1 subunit, signal peptide and regions of mapped receptor-binding domains (RBDs), is located between 1-789 amino acid (aa) positions (Song and Park, 2012). Sub-domain 2 or C- Terminal transmembrane S2 subunit (TM) is located between 790-1,383 amino acid (Woo et al., 2010). The S2 subunit is a transmembrane domain and an endodomain with cysteine-rich cytoplastic tail or CT domain (Masters, 2006; Woo et al., 2010; Shirato et al., 2011). In addition, S protein can be separated into 4 domains. It contains a signal

peptide (1–18 aa), neutralizing epitopes (499–638, 748–755, 764–771, and 1,368– 1,374 aa), a transmembrane domain (1,334–1,356 aa), and a short cytoplasmic domain.





Like other coronavirus S protein, PEDV S protein is a glycoprotein peplomer (surface antigen) on the viral surface. It has the important role in receptor binding activity (by S1 subunit) and membrane fusion (by S2 subunit) between PEDV and specific host cell (Masters, 2006). So the spike gene of PEDV is divided into S1 and S2. It is associated with tissue tropism and production of neutralizing antibodies (Kim et al., 2001; Chang et al., 2002). Thus, the S glycoprotein could be a primary target for the development of effective vaccines against PEDV (Song and Park, 2012).

S protein is required for promoting the viral budding into intercellular vesicles within the infected host cell (Shirato et al., 2011). Moreover, it is associated with growth adaptation in vitro, and attenuation of virulence in vivo (Song and Park, 2012). Therefore, S protein is an important target for studying the genetic relationships between, and the diversity of PEDV isolates, the PEDV epidemiology in the field, and the association between genetic mutations and viral function (Song and Park, 2012)

The E protein (or called sM) is a small polypeptide, about 8.4 to 12 kDa (76–109 amino acids), this is a minor constituent of virions (Masters, 2006). E gene is

conserved among all members of coronaviruses, but it is not used as a target for phylogenetic studies because it contains a short sequence (Masters, 2006).

The membrane gene (M gene) is coded for membrane protein (M protein), a structural membrane glycoprotein and the most abundant envelope component (Utiger et al., 1995). Furthermore, the M protein not only performs an important role in the viral assembly process (Nguyen and Hogue, 1997; de Haan et al., 1998), but also consists of antibodies that neutralize virus in the presence of complement (Saif, 1993). It has been suggested that the M protein may play a role in $\mathbf{\alpha}$ -interferon ($\mathbf{\alpha}$ -IFN) induction (Laude et al., 1992). Furthermore, Co-expression of E and M proteins permitted the pseudoparticles to form, which exhibit an interferogenic activity in the same way as complete virions (Baudoux et al., 1998).

The N protein is encoded by nucleocapsid gene, which could be important for induction cell-mediated immunity in the host (Saif, 1993). The N protein also plays a role in transcription of the viral genome, the package of viral RNA, and the formation of the viral core (Li et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2008). Moreover, since N protein is highly conserved, it is the best candidate protein used as an antigen for early diagnosis reagent and vaccine development (Duarte et al., 1993; Tobler et al., 1993).

The ORF3 gene is an accessory gene that is located between spike and envelope genes (Masters, 2006). It encodes for accessory proteins whose functions are less well known. It also is one of the pathogenicity factors and might be a marker for monitoring of nucleotide sequence varied during higher passage adaptation (Kweon et al., 1999; Song et al., 2003). Recently, the ORF3 gene has received much attention in the virulence of PEDV because the virulence can be reduced by altering this gene through cell culture adaptation (Park et al., 2007b; Park et al., 2008). The ORF3 gene has been used in several reports to differentiate between field and vaccine-derived isolates (Park et al., 2008)

2.3 Distribution of porcine epidemic diarrhea disease

The first outbreak of diarrhea was observed in feeder and fattening pigs in England in 1971. The clinical sign is the same as the observation of transmissible gastroenteritis virus (TGEV) infection, but the suckling piglets did not become sick. So the TGEV and other enteropathogenic infectious agents were elided from these outbreaks. This disease spread to other countries in Europe and the name "epidemic viral diarrhea" (EVD) was designated (Pensaert and Yeo, 2006). In 1976, the TGE-like outbreaks of acute diarrhea recurred in pigs of all ages including suckling pigs. The name "EVD type 2" was used to differentiate with the outbreak observed in 1971.

In 1978, the experiment pig with the strain designated CV777 was observed, and caused pathogenesis to pigs of all ages which associated to EVD type 1 and 2. Thus, the disease was called Porcine epidemic diarrhea (PED)" (Pensaert et al., 1982). During 1982-1990, some reports were published on the antibodies against PEDV in Belgium, England, Germany, France, the Netherlands, Switzerland, Bulgaria, and Taiwan (Debouck et al., 1982; Hofmann and Wyler, 1987). The PEDV was identified in many countries in Europe. For example, in the 1990s, PED caused the small epizootic of watery diarrhea in seven farms in Spain (Carvajal et al., 1995a), and the specific antibodies to PEDV were detected in 1513 of 5052 sows, and seropositive animals were identified in 55.0% of 803 breeding farms (Carvajal et al., 1995b). In the Netherlands, an acute outbreak of PEDV was found in breeding and finishing pigs (Pijpers et al., 1993). It was also found in the Czech Republic in 1993 (Song and Park, 2012). Subsequently, the outbreak of PED occurred in Hungary in 1995 (Nagy et al., 1995), in Great Britain in 1999 (Pritchard et al., 1999). In Italy, the observed outbreak of PEDV occurred in all ages of pigs, and contained piglets between May 2005 and June 2006 (Martelli et al., 2008). Presently, PEDV outbreaks are rarely found in European countries (Martelli et al., 2008).

In Asia, PED outbreaks are more acute and severe than those observed in Europe. This disease is of serious concern in Asian countries. PED was first identified in Japan in 1982 (Takahashi et al., 1983), China in 1986 (Chen et al., 2008), India in 2003 (Pensaert and Yeo, 2006), In Korea, PEDV was first isolated in 1992 (Kweon et al., 1993). Since then, it has spread to many provinces and become one of the most devastating viral enteric diseases in this country. In Thailand, the PED outbreak was first reported in 1995 on a farm located in the southern region of Thailand (Srinuntapunt S et al., 1995). The disease did not spread to other swine producing

areas until late 2007. The disease then reoccurred in Nakorn Pathom province (Puranaveja et al., 2009). Since its reemergence, it has evolved into a pandemic PED outbreak in Thailand. As a result, more than 90% of Thai swine farms have been infected. In 2008, PEDV isolates were achieved and the data reported in complete M gene sequence by the Department of Livestock Development, National Institute of Animal Health, Thailand (NCBI dataset). A well-described disease characterization of Thai PED situation based on molecular epidemiology was first published by Puranaveja and colleagues in 2009 (Puranaveja et al., 2009).

In Vietnam, the outbreak of PEDV was reported in 2009. The disease caused massive economic losses in the swine industry in most of the southern provinces. At present, PED has occurred throughout the country and is the single most important factor affecting the swine industry. The infected pigs revealed severe watery diarrhea, dehydration and died within a few days in suckling piglets. Adult pigs showed an acute watery diarrhea condition and recovered after several days. According to Duy et al, 2011 Vietnamese PEDV in the southern provinces during 2009-2010 were closely related to the Chinese and Thai isolates. Vietnamese PEDV isolates could share the same origin with Chinese ancestor undergoing genetic variation and possibly forming a new PEDV genotype in Vietnam (Duy et al., 2011).

Up until late 2013, the emergence of PEDV in Taiwan was not reported. However, at the beginning of December 2013, a remarkable increase in outbreaks of PEDV occurred in the country (Lin et al., 2014).

Prior to April or May 2013, PED was not reported in North America. However, the disease was first identified in the United States in May 2013 (Huang et al., 2013). Since then, PEDV has spread to 27 or more states (Stevenson et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2014). In late January 2014, the first case of PED was confirmed in a swine herd in South Western Ontario, Canada (Pasick et al., 2014).

Despite the history of PED outbreaks in Europe, little is known about current virus strains and their effect. A case of PED occurred in a swine-fattening farm in Germany in May 2014. The causative virus was fully characterized by using conventional methods and next-generation sequencing (Hanke et al., 2015).

Presently, PED is one of the most serious enteropathogenic diseases and has had a major impact on the swine industry worldwide. PEDV has been considered as an endemic pathogen in South East Asia and the United States (Wang et al., 2014). And the virus is most often found in suckling piglets less than 10 days of age (Pensaert and Yeo, 2006).

2.4 The study of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus

2.4.1 The study of PEDV across the world

To investigate the molecular epidemiology of PEDV, genetic and phylogenetic analysis based on the S, M and ORF3 genes has been used to determine the genetic relationship among PEDV isolates. In Korea 2007, the study of phylogenetic analysis of PEDV isolates between January 2002 and August 2005 based on partial S gene consists of an epitope region, shows that Korean isolates share a similarity to the Chinese strain (JS-2004-2) in one subgroup (Park et al., 2007a). In another report, Lee et al (2010) showed that the phylogenetic tree based on the entire S gen of all Korea PEDV isolates in 2008-2009 were divided in the same group as Korean parent strains, and were distinct from PEDV references (CV777 and Br 1/87), Korean vaccine strains (SM98P and DR13) and all Chinese strains (DX, LJB, LZC, and JS-2004-2) with low nucleotides identities (Lee et al., 2010). In 2011, a separate study reported that the sequence and phylogenetic analysis based on the complete M and ORF3 genes of Korean PEDV field strains from 2003 – 2007 revealed prevalent Korean field isolates have close relationships to Chinese field strains and differ genetically from European strains and vaccine strains used in Korea (Park et al., 2011).

In China, the first PEDV strain (CH/S) was isolated in 1986 (Chen et al., 2008). The phylogenetic relationship of Chinese PEDV strains in 2006 based on M gene revealed higher homology to Chinese strain (JS-2004-2) than CV777, Br1/87. Chinju99 and JMe2 (Chen et al., 2008). The sequence insertions and mutations were found in the high pathogenicity of the new PEDV variant that caused the outbreak of diarrhea in pig farms in China in 2011 (Li et al., 2012). In 2010, the study of phylogenetic analysis of PEDV strains during January 2006 – August 2009 based on ORF3 gen

showed that the Chinese PEDV field strains have a close relationship to Korean strains and are genetically different from PEDV vaccine strains. (Chen et al., 2010).

In Thailand, the PED outbreak first emerged in Nakornpathom province with the highest pig densities in late 2007. The partial S gene and full M gene were immediately cloned and sequenced. The study showed that the recent Thai PEDV strains indicated in the same clade as the Chinese isolates (JS-2004-2) identified in 2004, and differed genetically from previous Thai isolates (Puranaveja et al., 2009). Recently, a study of the PEDV in Thailand during 2008-2012 based on the partial and complete S gene, and ORF3 gene was reported. Temeeyasen et al (2013) showed that Thai isolates responsible for outbreaks in Thai during the period 2008-2012 were a new variant of PEDV with the insertion and deletion in S gene that was previously reported in China and Korea (Temeeyasen et al., 2013).

In this case, the molecular epidemiology of PEDV was studied based on whole genome sequence. The full-length sequence of PEDV was first completed in 2001 (Kocherhans et al., 2001), Subsequently, the entire genome of PEDV were reported in many countries such as China, Korea, the United States (Chen et al., 2011; Bi et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2012a; Huang et al., 2013; Marthaler et al., 2013; Cho et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2014).

In China, the first PEDV strain, isolated in a pig breeding farm in Shanghai in 1986, had its genome sequence completed in 2011 (Chen et al., 2011). Then, the whole genome of PEDV was reported in 2011- 2013 (Bi et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2012b; Fan et al., 2012; Luo et al., 2012; Wei et al., 2012; Zhao et al., 2012; Li et al., 2013). The new variant of PEDV was confirmed in China in 2011 (Li et al., 2012). A report demonstrated that the recent Chinese PEDV isolates belong to the same group distant from the CV777 vaccine strain and other foreign isolates (Fan et al., 2012; Pan et al., 2012).

In Korea, PED outbreaks first occurred in 1992. A virulent strain, DR13, was identified from suckling piglets suspected of having porcine epidemic diarrhea in 1999. The entire genome was thus first completed for the virulent and its attenuated strains in 2012 (Park et al., 2012). However, the PED outbreaks have reemerged and

spread rapidly across the country since December 2013. Determination of the origin and diversity of PEDV strains are ongoing in South Korea, PEDV strains were sequenced for the whole genome and analyzed. The reports showed that the complete genome sequence of recent Korean strains were most genetically similar to those of the US PEDV strains isolated in 2013, and distinct from previous endemic Korean PEDV strains (Lee; Choi et al., 2014).

In the United States, PEDV outbreaks suddenly emerged in May, 2013. The complete genome of this PEDV strain was sequenced and analyzed (Marthaler et al., 2013). Several reports showed that PEDV strains were clustered into two distinct genogroups, and the genetic and phylogenetic analyses of the US strains were genetically closely related to a Chinese PEDV strain (AH2012) isolated in 2012 (Huang et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2014). A recent report showed that the new variant of PEDV was different compared to the current PEDV strains (OH851) in the United States based on phylogenetic analysis of the complete genome. In addition, phylogenetic analysis of the full-length of spike gene also indicated OH851 strain was separated with other isolates of PEDV in China and had a close relationship with a Chinese strain, CH/HBQX/10. However, it was distinct from the recent PEDV isolated in the United States and AH2012 strain (Wang et al., 2014).

PED outbreaks have rarely been found in European countries for many years, though a case of PED was reported on a swine fattening farm in Germany in May, 2014. The full-length of this virus was characterized by using conventional methods and next generation sequencing. The study showed that German isolates share a very high (99.5%) identity with the new variant OH851 (GenBank accession no. KJ399978) recently reported from United States in 2014.

Today, there are more than 150 complete genome sequences of PEDV isolates available in the GenBank database. And the PED virus has changed in the genotype, compared to the classical PEDV strains. The prevention and control programs for this disease did not generate successful results. Thus, PED is one of the most serious enteropathogenic diseases to impact the swine industry and is fast becoming a major concern throughout the world.

2.4.2 The study of PEDV in Vietnam

Porcine epidemic diarrhea was identified in South Vietnam in 2009. Subsequently, the disease spread to other provinces and has become a major factor affecting the swine industry. The study of PEDV strains is still limited in Vietnam. According to Duy et al., 2011, the genetic relationship between Vietnamese isolates and reference isolates were analyzed based on partial S and M gene sequences. Vietnamese PEDV in the southern provinces during 2009-2010 were related closely to the Chinese isolate (JS-2004-2), Korea and Thai isolates (Figure 4). Vietnamese PEDV isolates may have originated from the same Chinese ancestor undergoing genetic variation and possibly forming a new PEDV genotype in Vietnam (Duy et al., 2011). Therefore, in order to understand the overall genetic diversity and evolutionary characteristics of Vietnamese PEDV strains and provide the data references for the further studies, the determination of PEDV is necessary.

, Chulalongkorn University



Figure 4. Phylogenetic tree based on the nucleotide sequences of the partial S and M gene of southern Vietnamese PEDV with those of other reference strains (Duy et al., 2011)

CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Conceptual framework

This study was completed within the following framework (Figure 5). To define the molecular characteristics of PEDV isolates in Vietnam, the nucleotide and deduced amino acid sequences of Vietnamese PEDV isolates were analyzed. The genetic and phylogenetic analyses of whole genome, ORF1, S, ORF3, E, M and N gene were compared with other PEDV strains available in the Genbank database.



Figure 5. Conceptural framework

3.2 Virus and viral isolation

Three Vietnamese PEDV isolates were isolated from intestinal samples of 3 day-old pigs displaying severe watery diarrhea and dehydration. One isolate was taken from the collection samples of Virology section at the National Center for Veterinary Diagnosis (Hanoi Vietnam) in January 2013, and another two isolates were from two different affected farms in Southern Vietnam in October 2013.

To isolate PEDV, intestinal samples were minced into small pieces and homogenized with phosphate buffer saline (PBS; 0.1M, pH 7.2) to 10% suspension. Homogenized samples were then vortexed and clarified by centrifugation at 3000g for 30 minutes. Supernatant were collected and filtrated through a 0.45-µm filters. The filtrates were stored at -80 C until used for virus isolation in Vero cell (Hofmann and Wyler, 1988).

Vero cells were grown in a 25-cm² flask with the growth medium (GM) (Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, Gibco, USA) supplements with 5% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum and antibiotics until a full confluence monolayer at 37^{0} C in 5% CO₂ was reached. The GM was removed from confluent monolayer Vero cells, which were washed twice with TM (consisting DMEM and 10µg/ml trypsin (Dibco, USA)). And then the cells were infected with 0.5 ml per flask of the clarified diluted virus suspension at 37^{0} C in 5% CO₂ for 1 h. After adsorption for 1 hour at 37^{0} C, the maintenance media was added (10 ml per flask) without removing the viral inoculum. The Vero cell cultures were incubated again for 5-7 days for observing the cyto-pathic effect (CPEs). The flasks were frozen and thawed twice and centrifuged at 3000g for 10 minutes to collect the supernatant, which were subjected to a polymerase chain reaction.

3.3 Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction

Viral RNAs of three strains were extracted from the infected Vero culture supernatant using the Nucleospin[®] viral RNA isolation kit (Macherey-Nagel Inc, Germany), according to the manufacturer's instructions and were dissolved in

nuclease-free water. cDNA were synthesized from the extracted RNA using M-MuLV Reverse Transcriptase (BioLabs Inc., MA.USA).

Twelve pairs of oligonucleotide primers were used to amplify the different regions of the Vietnamese PEDV strains, and were designed based on the sequence of PEDV CV777 strain (Pan et al., 2012). PCR amplification was performed on the cDNA using Gotap[®] Green Master mix (Promega, MA, USA). The primer sequences and PCR product sizes are shown in Table 1.

3.4 Cloning, plasmid purification and sequence determination

The PCR products were purified using the Nucleospin[®] Gel extraction kit (Macherey-Nagel Inc, Germany), and cloned into pGEM-T[®] Easy Vector vectors for the subsequent transformation of *Escherichia coli* (JM109) by using a commercial kit (Promega, WI, USA). Bacterial transformant colonies were randomly selected from each sample for plasmid purification using Nucleospin[®] Plasmid purification kit (Macherey-Nagel, Germary) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions, and sequenced in both directions in triplicate by Biobasic Inc (Ontario) using an ABI Prism 3730XL sequencer. The 5' terminal sequences are determined by 5' rapid amplification of cDNA ends (RACE) (Sambrook and Russell, 2006).

Cloning DNA process using the qGem[®]- T Easy vector: Ligation protocol

1. Briefly centrifuge the pGEM®-T or pGEM ®-T Easy Vector and Control Insert DNA tubes to collect the contents at the bottom of the tubes.

2. Set up ligation reactions as described below.

Note: Use 0.5ml tubes known to have low DNA-binding capacity (e.g., VWR Cat # 20170-310).

Vortex the 2X Rapid Ligation Buffer vigorously before each use.

3. Mix the reactions by pipet. Incubate the reactions for 1 hour at room temperature.

Alternatively, if the maximum number of transformants is required, incubate the reactions overnight at 4°C.

Reaction component	Standard reaction
2X Rapid Ligation Buffer, T4 DNA ligation	5µl
pGEM®-T or pGEM ®-T Easy Vector (50ng)	1µl
T4 DNA Ligation (3 Weiss units/µl)	1µl
PCR product	3µl

Transformation protocol

Material: - Competent Escherichia coli JM109

- LB agar plates with ampicillin/IPTG (50µl)/ X-gal (20µl) Transformation protocol:
- 1. Prepare LB/ampicillin/IPTG/X-Gal plates and incubate at 37°C for 30 minutes
- Carefully transfer 10 µl each purified PCR product into a 200 µl competent cell. Gently flick the tubes to mix and keep on ice for 30 minutes.
- The DNA- competent cell mixes were changed and placed in a water bath at 42°C for 1 minute.
- 4. Then the DNA-competent cell mixes were returned to the ice for 2 minutes.
- 5. After, 800 μ LB broth was added into the mix of DNA and competent, which were incubated in the shaker incubator at 37°C/ 1 hour.
- 6. The mixes were centrifuged at 8000g/minute for 1 minute. The supernatants were discarded. The 100µl of each transformation was cultured in a LB agar/ ampicillin/IPTG/X-Gal plates, and incubated at 37°C for 16-24 hours.
- 7. The white colonies were selected to culture on LB agar/ampicillin plates at 37°C/16-24 hours. Six or eight colonies were selected from each sample. Bacterial transformants colonies were randomly selected from each sample for plasmid purification using Nucleospin[®] Plasmid kit (Macherey-Nagel, Germary) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions.

Primer pairs	Oligonucleotides	Location [*]	Sequences
1	1F	190-209	GCGTTCCGTCGCCTTCTACA
L	1R	2751-2729	CAGGAATCTGGAAGACACTTGCA
2	2F	2663-2684	GTATTATGCCACCAGTGTCCCA
Ζ.	2R	4957-4938	CAGTTGCCAGCAGGCACTGT
2	3F	4887-4906	ACCAGCGGTGCATTGCTTGA
, j	3R	7475-7453	CAATGTGCTCTTGCAATCCTGCA
1	4F	7327-7350	CTGTTAAGTTAGTGGACTCAGCGT
4	4R	9875-9856	ACTAGCGCCTTCAACTTGCA
Б	5F	9712-9731	GCGCTTGTGGTTCACCTGGT
5	5R	12259-12240	GGATCCACAGCGAAAGCGCA
6	6F	12182-12202	ACGCTTGCAGGCTGGTAAACA
0	6R	14462-14442	TGGGCAGTGCTCTATCGCACT
7	7F	14322-14341	ATACTAGGGGCGCTTCGGTT
ſ	7R	16780-16760	GTCAGGGTGCACAGGAATGAA
0	8F	16662-16684	GTATGTGTGCCCTTAAGCCTGAT
δ	8R	19002-18980	GTAAGTGGACGTTCGGCTTCATA
0	9F	18874-18898	CGTAGCTTTTGAGTTGTATGCCA
9	9R	21330-21309	GCAATTAGCTGTACAGGGTTCA
10	10F	21080-21101	CCATTCCAGCTTATATGCGTGA
10	10R	23487-23456	GTACATGTGAAGCTTCTCAGCGT
11	11F	23272-23292	GTGTACGATCCTGCAAGTGGC
11	11R	25715-25694	TCACCTCATCAACGGGAATAGA
10	12F	25535-25557	TCGTCCAATTGGTTAATCTGTGC
	12R	27840-27820	TACCGTTGTGTGCAAGACCAA
	5' RACE primer	307-288	TTGCTAGCCATAGCCGGCAG
	3' RACE primer	27725-27747	CTATGTTCCAGGGTAGTGCCATT

 Table 1. Primers used for sequencing reaction.

*Location corresponds to position within the CV777 (AF353511) genome.

3.5 Sequence analysis

The nucleotide and deduces amino acid sequence alignments were performed by using the CLUSTALW program (Thompson et al., 1994). Phylogenetic analyses were performed using the MEGA version 5.2 (phylogenetic and molecular evolutionary analyses software) by the neighbor-joining method, and bootstrap analysis with 1,000 replicates based on the nucleotide sequence of the entire genome, ORF1, complete S, ORF3, E, M, and N genes of three PEDV strains in this study with others PEDV isolates that have been previously published in NCBI Genbank database (Tamura et al., 2011). The nucleotide sequence of PEDV reference strains of whole genome sequence are showed in Table 2.

Table 2. The reference PEDV strains for the full-length genomic nucleotide sequences used for sequence analysis and phylogenetic analysis were compared with current Vietnamese PEDV strains.

Strain	Year	Place of	Accession #
		isolation	
AH2012	2012	China/Anhiu	KC210145
BJ-2011-1	2011	China/Beijing	JN825712
GD-B	2012	China/Guangdong	JX088695
JS-HZ2012	2012	China/Jiangsu	KC210147
CH/ZMDZY/11	2011	China/Henan	KC196276
CH/FJND-3/2011	2011	China/Fujian	JQ282909
CH/FJZZ-9/2012	2012	China/Fujian	KC140102
AJ1102	2011	China/Hubei	JX188454
LC	2011	China/Guangdong	JX489155
ZJCZ4	2011	China/Jiangsu	JX524137
CHGD-01	2011	China/Guangdong	JX261936
GD-A	2012	China/Guangdong	JX112709
GD-1	2011	China/Guangdong	JX647847
CH/GDGZ/2012	2012	China/Guangdong	KF384500

Strain	Year	Place of	Accession #
		isolation	
DR13/virulent	1999	Korea	JQ023161
CH/S	1986	China/Shanghai	JN547228
CV777	1978	Belgium	AF353511
LZC	<2006	China/Gansu	EF185992
SM98	1998	Korea	GU937797
JS2008	2008	China/Jiangsu	KC109141
DR13/attenuated	Cell adapted/2003	Korea	JQ023162
SD-M	2012	China/Shandong	JX560761
Attenuated vaccine	Cell adapted/2012	China/Hubei	KC189944
MN	2013	USA/Minnesota	KF488752
IA1	2013	USA/Iowa	KF488753
IA2	2013	USA/Iowa	KF488754
USA/Colarado/2013	2013	USA/Colorado	KF272920
USA/Iowa/18984/2013	2013	USA/Iowa	KF804028
USA/Indiana/17846/2013	2013	USA/Indiana	KF452323
USA/Iowa/16465/2013	2013	USA/Iowa	KF452322
13-019349	2013	USA/Co	KF267450
KNU-1305	2013	Korea	KJ662670
KUIDL-PED-2014-007	2014	Korea	KJ588062
KUIDL-PED-2014-002	2014	Korea	KJ588063
KUIDL-PED-2014-001	2014	Korea	KJ588064
VN/JFP1013-1/2013	2013	This study	KJ960178
VN/VAP1113-1/2013	2013	This study	KJ960179
VN/KCHY-311013/2013	2013	This study	KJ960180

CHAPTERS IV RESULTS

4.1 Viral isolation

Three PEDV isolates were isolated from intestine samples of 3-day-old pigs displaying severe watery diarrhea and dehydration using Vero cells. One isolate designated VN/KCHY-310113 (accession number KJ960180) was taken from the collection samples in the Virology section at the National Center for Veterinary Diagnosis and two strains designated VAP1113-1 (accession number KJ960179) and JFP1013-1 (accession number KJ960178) were taken from two swine farms in Southern Vietnam in October 2013. The cytopathic effect characterized by cell fusion and syncytia formation was observed following the second blind passages in Vero cells (Figure 6).



Figure 6. The cytopathic effect in Vero cells infected with Vietnamese PEDV strains. (A) Cell control. (B) Infected cells: showing fusion and syncytia formation.

4.2 Sequencing results and phylogenetic analyses

The relationship between Vietnamese and other PEDV isolates available in Genbank were analyzed based on full-length, ORF1, spike, ORF3, envelope (E), membrane (M) and nucleocapsid (N) gene sequences. The phylogenetic tree was constructed by using the neighbor-joining method (bootstrapping for 1000replicase) in Mega version 5.
4.2.1 Whole genome sequence

Genome of three Vietnamese PEDV isolates are 28,035 nucleotides (nt) in length and have the genome organization resembling other PEDV strains previously reported (Kocherhans et al., 2001; Song and Park, 2012), characterized by a gene order of 5'-ORF1a/1b-S-ORF3-E-M-N-3' (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Schematic diagram of genomic structure, and twelve overlapping cDNA fragments covering the entire PEDV genome for each of the three Vietnamese strains.

To investigate the genetic relationship of these viruses, a phylogenetic tree was constructed based on the whole genome of the nucleotide sequences of the three Vietnam PEDV isolates along with 35 PEDV isolates sequences from other countries available in Genbank. The phylogenetic tree demonstrated that all PEDV isolates evolved into two distinct groups, designated groups G1 and G2 (Figure 8). Group G1 consisted of 9 isolates including the prototype CV777 along with three isolates from Korea (SM98, and virulent and attenuated DR13), and five isolates from China (SD-M, LZC, CH/S, attenuated vaccine, and JS2008). Group G2 consisted of isolates from Vietnam, Korea, China and USA and was further divided into two subgroups consisting of G2-1 and G2-2. Three Vietnamese PEDV were clustered in subgroup G2-1 along with 7 isolates from China (LC, AJ1102, ZJCZ4, GD-1, GD-A, CHGD-01 and CH/GDGZ/2012). Interestingly, these 7 isolates were reported to be a new variant responsible for 2011-2012 PEDV outbreaks in China. Subgroup G2-2 includes 7 isolates from China (2011-2012), 8 isolates from the United Stated (2013), and 4 isolates from Korea during 2013-2014 (KNU-1305, KUIDL-PED-2014-007, KUIDL-PED-2014-002, and KUIDL-PED-2014-001) that were reported to be US-like PEDV.



Figure 8. Phylogenetic analysis by neighbor- joining method (bootstrapping for 1000 replicase) based on the nucleotide sequences of whole genome of three Vietnamese PEDV strains with other isolates available in Genbank. The Vietnamese PEDV isolates were in the red circle symbols in front of their name.

To analyze the genetic diversity, the percentage of similarities between isolates based on the complete genome at nucleotide and amino acid level were calculated. Three PEDV isolates from Vietnam shared the highest genetic similarities with Chinese isolates in subgroup G2-1 (LC, ZJCZ4, CHGD-01, CH/GDGZ/2012, GD-1, GD-A, and AJ1102) with nucleotide and amino acid identities ranging 98.4%-98.9% and 95.9%-97.1%, respectively. The highest similarity is with GD-1 and GD-A isolates at 98.9% and 97.1% at nucleotide and amino acid levels, respectively. It is noteworthy that Chinese PEDV isolates in the sub-cluster 2-1 were reported for being responsible for outbreaks in 2011-2012. Three PEDV isolates from Vietnam share only 97.0%-98.1% and 93.9%-95.3% identities at nucleotide and amino acid level with subgroup G2-2. In addition, the genetic similarity between three isolates from Vietnam and isolates in group G1 were 96.0%-97.3% and 90.2%-93.3% similarity in nucleotide and amino acid levels, respectively (Table 3).

Table 3. The nucleotide and amino acid identities of the three Vietnamese PEDV strains compare with other isolates available in Genbank based on whole genome sequence.

01	N	
Groups	Nucleotide identity	Amino acid identity (%)
	(%) เป็นหาวิทยาลัย	
GD-1 and GD-A isolates	98.9	97.1
G1	96.0 - 97.3	90.2 - 93.3
G 2-1	98.4 - 98.9	95.9 – 97.1
G 2-2	97.0 - 98.1	93.9 – 95.3

4.2.2 ORF1 replicase sequence

The nucleotide and deduced amino acid sequences of the complete genome of the three Vietnamese PEDV isolates along with that of 35 PEDV isolates were aligned. The sequence alignments demonstrated that the three PEDV isolates from Vietnam have a genome organization similar to other PEDV isolates previously reported (Kocherhans et al., 2001; Song and Park, 2012), which are characterized by the gene order of ORF1a/1b-S-ORF3-E-M-N. The ORF1a/1b is 20,344 nucleotides in length, accounting for the largest ORF. Genes ORF1a (nt 297- 12602) and ORF1b (nt 12601-20637) cover two-thirds of the genome. The ORF1 of the three Vietnamese PEDV isolates has 91.4%-97.1% amino acid homology compared to other isolates, exhibiting the highest identity (96.0%-97.1%) with 7 Chinese strains (CH/GDGZ2012, GD-1, GD-A, ZJCZ4, AJ1102, CHGD-01 and LC)^{*} (Table 4),. There are no insertions or deletions in the sequence of this ORF1. Compared to other PEDV strains, the amino acid identities of ORF1a and ORF1b of all Vietnamese PEDV isolates are 91.2%-96.7% and 91.6%-97.9%, respectively (Table 4).

 Table 4. The amino acid identity of the ORF1 gene the Vietnamese PEDV strains

 compare to other isolates available in Genbank

Genes	Amino acid identity (%)
ORF1	91.4 – 97.1
ORF1a	91.2 - 96.7
ORF1b	91.6 - 97.9
ORF1 (7 Chinese isolates)*	96.0 - 97.1
431	18

The phylogenetic tree based on the nucleotide of ORF1 gene sequence demonstrated that all three PEDV isolates along with other 35 PEDV isolates evolved into two groups, namely, G1 and G2 (Figure 9). Group G1 consisted of the prototype CV777, 4 isolates from China (SD-M, JS2008, LZC and attenuated vaccine) and 2 from Korea (SM98, and attenuated DR13). Three Vietnamese isolates were classified into group G2 along with 15 isolates from China, 8 from the US and 5 Korean isolates with the nucleotide and amino acid homology of 97.3%-98.9% and 94.1%-97.1%, respectively.



Figure 9. Phylogenetic analysis by neighbor- joining method (bootstrapping for 1000 replicase) based on the nucleotide sequences of ORF1 replicase of three Vietnamese PEDV strains with other isolates available in Genbank. The Vietnamese PEDV isolates were in the red circle symbols in front of their name.

4.2.3 The spike (S) gene sequence

The S gene follows ORF1 in sequence. The S gene encodes for S protein. The S gene of the three PEDV isolates from Vietnam is 4,158 nucleotides in length, encoding for 1,386 amino acids. The phylogenetic tree based on the complete S gene sequence demonstrated that all three PEDV isolates along with another 35 PEDV isolates evolved into two groups, namely, G1 and G2 (Figure 10), similar to the classification of the whole genome. Group G1 consisted of CV777, 5 isolates from China (CH/S, SD-M, JS2008, LZC and attenuated vaccine) and 3 from Korea (SM98, virulent and attenuated DR13). Group G2 was further divided into three subgroups designated G2-1, 2-2, and 2-3. As noted above, the PEDV isolates in Group G2 have unique characteristics, including 2 insertion position and 1 deletion positions in the spike genes, making them genetically distinct from isolates in Group G1. The three PEDV isolates from Vietnam clustered into subgroup G2-3 along with eight isolates from China that were isolated during the period from 2011 to 2012 with a nucleotide and amino acid homology of 97.1%-98.6% and 96.9%-98.2% (Table 5), respectively. When compared to subgroup G2-2, the nucleotide and amino acid identities of subgroup G2-3 are 96.7%-98.7% and 96.4%-99.0%, respectively. When compared to Group G1, the nucleotide and amino acid identities of subgroup G2-3 are 92.2%-94.6% and 90.9%-94.0%, respectively (Table 6). In addition, the three PEDV isolates from Vietnam clustered distinctly from the US-PEDV isolates.

	Nucleo	tide ident	ity (%)	Amino acid identity				
					(%)			
Isolates	VN/JFP1013_1/2013		VN/KCHY-310113/2013	VN/JFP1013_1/2013	VN/VAP1113_1/2013	VN/KCHY-310113/2013		
CH/GDGZ/2012/China/2012	98.2	98.4	98.4	97.5	97.9	97.9		
CHGD-01/China/2011	98.1	98.3	98.3	97.6	98.0	97.9		
GD-A/China/2012	98.4	98.6	98.6	97.8	98.2	98.1		
GD-1/China/2011	98.4	98.6	98.6	97.8	98.2	98.1		
LC/China/2011	97.9	98.1	98.1	97.8	98.2	98.1		
AJ1102/China/2011	97.9	98.1	98.1	97.8	98.2	98.1		
CH/FJZZ-9/2012/China/2012	97.1	97.3	97.3	96.9	97.4	97.3		
ZJCZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011	97.7	97.9	97.8	97.4	97.8	97.7		

Table 5. The nucleotide and amino acid homology of spike gene of the threeVietnamese PEDV isolates compared with Chinese strains in subgroup G2-3.

				G2	
G	roups	G1	G2-1	G2-2	G2-3
	G1	ID	91.7-94.1	91.6-94.2	90.9-94.0
	G2-1	93.1-94.9	ID	96.7-97.4	95.8-96.9
G2	G2-2	92.7-94.7	97.4-97.7	ID	96.4-99.0
	G2-3	92.2-94.6	96.5-97.5	96.7-98.7	ID

 Table 6. The homology of the nucleotide and deduce amino acid sequence of spike

 gene sequence between groups.

Nucleotide identity (%) in lower triangle

Deduced amino acid identity (%) in upper triangle

The deduced amino acid sequence demonstrated that all three PEDV isolates from Vietnam have unique characteristics in the S gene, including deletion and insertion mutations in the spike gene. The S protein of three Vietnamese PEDV isolates possesses 2 notation insertions of 4 (⁵⁶GENQ⁵⁹) and 1 (¹⁴⁰N) amino acids at positions 56-59 and 140, respectively, and 1 deletion of 2 amino acids (¹⁶⁰DG¹⁶¹) at positions 160 and 161 (Figure 11). The insertion and deletion markers are located in the hypervariable domain in the N-terminus of S1 region, indicating that the Vietnamese isolates are genetically similar to isolates considered new variants that were responsible for the 2011 to 2012 outbreaks in China.



Figure 10. Phylogenetic analysis by neighbor- joining method (bootstrapping for 1000 replicase) based on the nucleotide sequences of spike gene of three Vietnamese PEDV strains with other isolates available in Genbank. The Vietnamese PEDV isolates were in the red circle symbols in front of their name.

	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
]]]	- 1
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2	MKSLTYFWLFLPVLS	TLSLPQDVTRC	SANTNERREFS	CENVQA	PAVVVLGGYLP	GENQOVN	STWYCAGOHPTA	SGVHGIFL	SHIRGGHGFEIGI SQE	PF
VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • •		• • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • • •			• •
VN/VAP1113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • •			• • • • • • • • • • • • • •			• •
VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/V1			• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • •			• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			• •
CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011	•••••		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				• • • • • • • • • • • • • •		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• •
GD-A/Guangdong/China/2012	•••••		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				• • • • • • • • • • • • • •		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• •
GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011	•••••		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • •			• • • • • • • • • • • • •			• •
LC/Guangdong/China/2011		· · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • •		• • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • • •			• •
AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011		· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • •		• • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • • •			• •
CH/FJZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/20	S		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	. v		• •
ZJCZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011		· · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • •		• • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	v		• •
GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012			• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	. v		
JS-HZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2012			• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •					v		• •
BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011			• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	. v		• •
AH2012/Anhiu/China/2012								. V		
CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011							R	. V	.	
IA1/Iowa/USA/2013								. v		
13-019349/co/USA/2013								. v		
USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA								. V		
USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2								V	.Y.DS	
MN/Minnesota/USA/2013								V		
KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014								v		
KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014								v		
KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014								V		
USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2								v		
IA2/Iowa/USA/2013								v		
KNU-1305/Korea/2014								v		
USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana								V		
CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/20										
CH/S/Shanghai/China/1986			OST.			NS	.SGTGIE		Y.DS.O	
SD-M/Shandong/China/2012	.TP.II		QSTI			IINS	.SGTGIE.D		Y.DS.Q	
Attenuated vaccine/Hubei/China	.TP.II		OSTI			NS	.SGTGIE.D		Y.DS.O.	
Attenuated DR13/Korea/2003	.TP.I		OSTI			NS	.SGTGIE.D		Y.DS.O.	
JS2008/Jiangsu/China/2008	.TP.II		OSTI			INS	.SGTGIE.D		Y.DS.Q	
Virulent DR13/Korea/1999	.R. I		OSTI			NS	.SGTGIE .D		Y.DS.O.	
SM98/Korea/1998	.R. I		OST.			NS	S. GTGIE		Y.DSSO.	
LZC/Lanzhou/China/2006	.R. I		OST.			NS	S. GTGIE		Y.DS.O.	
CV777/Belgium/1978	.R. I		OST.			NS	.SGTGIE		Y.DS. 0.	÷.
····,,··						_				
	110	120	130	140	150	160	170	180	190	200
	110 	120	130	140	150	160	170	180	190	200 I
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2	110 III DPSGYQLYLHKATNO	120 GNTNATARLRI	130 CQFPDNKTLGPT	140 PNNLVI	150 	160 PAHM <mark>SF</mark>	170 HSVVGITWDNDR	180	190 	200 I CYN
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013 1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn	110 II. DPSGYQLYLHKATNO	120	130 II CQFPDNKTLGPT	140 2 NND V1	150 	160	170 HSVVGITWDNDR	180 VTVLSDKI F	190 YYFYFKNDWSRVATKO .H	200 1 CYN
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013 1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAP1113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet	110 DPSGYQLYLHKATNO	120	130 II CQFPDNKTLGPT	140 2 NND V1	150	160	170 I HSVVGITWDNDR	180 VTVLSDKI F F	190 	200 I CYN
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAP1113_1/2013/VingTua/Viet VN/KCHX-31013/2013/HungYen/Vi	110 DPSGYQLYLHKATNO	120	130 II. CQFPDNKTLGPT	140	150	160	170 IIIII HSVVGITWDNDR	180	190 	200 - I CYN
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011	110 DPSGYQLYLHKATNO	120	130 II. CQFPDNKTLGPT SI	140 7 NND V?	150 I TTGRNCLFNKAI	160	170 HSVVGITWDNDR	180 . VTVLSDKI F F F	190 	200 - 1 CYN
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VW/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-3/Guangdong/China/2012	110 DPSGYQLYLHKATNO	120	130 COFPDNKTLGPT	140 7 NND V	150	160	170	180 II. VTVLSDKI F F F F	190 	200 - 1 CYN
CB/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/7FP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2013/BungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011	110 DPSGYQLYLHKATNO	120	130 COFPDNKTLGPT SI. SI.	140	150	160	170	180 VTVLSDKI F F F F F	190 	200 - 1 CYN
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VB/KCHY-310113/2013/BungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011		120	130 COFPDNKTLGPT SI. SI. SI.	140	150	160	170 HSVVGITWDNDR	180 	190 	200 I CYN
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 LJ1102/Hubei/China/2011	110 DPSGYQLYLHKATNO	120	130 CQFPDNKTLGPT SI. SI. SI. SI.	140	150	160	170 IIII	180 II. VTVLSDKI F F F F F F F F	190 YYFYFKNDWSRVATKO H. H.	200 I CYN D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 CH/9TZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/20	110 DPSGYQLYLHKATNO	120	130 COFPDNKTLGPT SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI.	140	150	160	170 I IIII HSVVGITWDNDR	180 II. VTVLSDKI F F F F F F F F F F	190 YYFYFKNDWSRVATKO H. H.	200 I CYN D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CH/FUZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/201 CH/FUZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/2011		120	130 CQFPDNKTLGPT SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI.	140	150	160	170 .i.i. HSVVGITWDNDP	180	190 YYFYKNWSRVATKA H. H.	200 I CYN D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi (GGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 DD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 GD-8/Guangdong/China/2012 GD-8/Guangdong/China/2012		120	130 CQFPDNKTLGPT SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI.	140	150	160	170 HSVVGITWDNDR	180 . VTVLSDKI F F F F F F F F.	190 Y Y FY Y KND WS RVA TKU H. H. H.	200 I CYN D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/FP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingYua/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 CH/FJJZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/20 ZJCZ4/Jianggu/China/2011 GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012 JS-HZ2012/Jianggu/China/2012		120	130 CQFPDNKTLGPT SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI.	140 7 NNC V1	150	160 PAHM S	170	180 VTVLSDKI 	190 YVFYKNWSRVATK H. H. H.	200 I CYN
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi (CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CH/FJZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/20 ZJCZ4/Jianggu/China/2011 GD-8/Guangdong/China/2012 JS-HZ2012/Jianggu/China/2012 JS-HZ2012/Jianggu/China/2012		120 1	130 COFPONKTLGPT SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI.	140 7 NNC V	150	160 PAHM S1 	178 HSVVGITWDNDR	180 . VTVLSDKI F	190 	200
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingYua/Viet VB/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 LJ102/Hubei/China/2011 GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012 JS-HZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2012 JS-HZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011		120	130 COFPONKTLGPT SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI	140 2 NND V	150 TTGRNCLPNKAI	160	178 H SVVGT THONDR	180 	190 Y Y FY K KNDWS RVATK H. H.	200 . I CYN . D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/FP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CM/FJZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/20 ZJCZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011 GD-8/Guangdong/China/2012 JS-BZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2012 JS-BZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2011 AB2012/Anhiu/China/2011 CH/2MDZY/11/Henan/China/2012		120 1	130 CCFPDNKTLGFT SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI.	140	150 TTGRRCLINKAT	160	178 HSVVCITHONDP	180 . F F F F F F F	190 	200 . 1 CYN
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingYua/Vist VN/VAP113_1/2013/BungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 CJP3/Guangdong/China/2012 ZJCZ4/Jiangsu/China/2012 JS-HZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2012 BF-2011-I/Beijing/China/2012 BH2012/Anhiu/China/2012 CH/ZUZ2/Anhiu/China/2011 LA1/Iow/USA/2013		120 II.	130 COFPONKTLGPT SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI.	140	150 TTGRNCLENNAT	160	178 HSVVGTTHDNDP	180 	190 Y Y FY Y KID WS RVATK H. H.	200 I CYN D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/FP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CH/FIZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/20 JS-HZ2012/Jangsu/China/2011 GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012 JS-HZ2012/Jangsu/China/2011 AH2012/Anhiu/China/2011 AH2012/Anhiu/China/2011 CH/MDZY/1/1/Henan/China/2011 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 JS-01394/co/USA/2013		120 	130 CCFPDNKTLGFT SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI.	140	150 TTGRRCLENKAT	160	170 HSVVCITHONDP	180 	190 	200 - 1 CYN - D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingYua/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/HungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 GD-8/Guangdong/China/2012 JS-B22012/Jiangsu/China/2012 JS-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 AB2012/Jiangsu/China/2011 AB2012/Jiangsu/China/2011 CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011 AB2012/Anhiu/China/2011 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 13-019349/co/USA/2013		120 II.	130 COPPONKILGPT SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI	140	150	160	178 HSVVGTHENDP	180 	190 YYFYYKIDWSRVATKA H. H. H.	200 - 1 CYN - D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/FP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingYua/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CH/FUZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/20 ZMC24/Jianggu/China/2011 GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 AH2012/Anhiu/China/2011 AH2012/Anhiu/China/2011 IAH2012/Anhiu/China/2011 IAH2012/JiAnena/China/2011 IA/I0wa/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA		120 	130 CCFPDNKTLGFT SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI.	140	150 TTGRNCLENKAT	160	170 HSVVCITHONDP	180 	190 	200 - 1 CYN D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 LD/Guangdong/China/2011 LD/Guangdong/China/2011 LD/Guangdong/China/2011 CH/BJZZ-9/2012/FUjian/China/201 ZJC24/Jiangsu/China/2012 JS-822012/Jiangsu/China/2012 JS-2011-I/Beijing/China/2011 AH2012/Anhiu/China/2011 CH/ZDZ2/J11/Henan/China/2011 CH/ZDZ2/J11/Henan/China/2011 IA/Towa/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA USA/Iowa/16465/2013/I03/2013/		120 II.U	130 COPPONKILGPT SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI		150	160	178 HSVVGTHENDP	180 	190 YYFYYKIDWSRVATKA H. H. H.	200 1 CYN D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/FP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingYua/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2013/BungYen/Vi (CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CH/FUZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012 J3-BZ2012/Jianggu/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 AH2012/Anhiu/China/2012 CH/EMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011 IA-10va/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA		120 GNTNATARLRI	130 CCFPDNKTLGFT SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI.		150	160	170 HSVVCITHONDP	180 	190 	200 1 CYN D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/XPI1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/XPI113_1/2013/VingYua/Vist VN/XAPI13_1/2013/BungYen/Vi (GGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-8/Guangdong/China/2012 JC2C24/Jiangsu/China/2012 JS-B22012/Jiangsu/China/2012 JS-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 AB2012/Anhiu/China/2012 GN-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 TA1/Towa/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 MN/Minnesota/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea2014		120 II.U.	130 COPPONKILGPT SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI		150	160	178 HSVVGTHENDE	180 	190 YYFYYKDWSRVATKO H.H. H.	200 . 1 CYN . D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/FP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAPI13_1/2013/VingYua/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2013/BungYen/Vi (CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CJ/102/Hubei/China/2011 CJ/102/Hubei/China/2011 GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012 J3-R2012/Jiangsu/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 AH2012/Anhiu/China/2012 CH/EMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011 IA-01394/co/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA NVIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea2014		120 GNTNATARLRI	130 CCFPDNKTLGFT SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI.		150	160	170 HSVVCITHONDP	180 	190 	200 . 1 CYN . D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/FP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingYua/Vist VN/VAP113_1/2013/BungYen/Vi (GGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ102/Hubei/China/2011 GD-8/Guangdong/China/2011 JS-B22012/Jiangsu/China/2012 JS-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 JS-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 AB2012/Anhiu/China/2011 CH/ZUZZ/J1/Henan/China/2011 IA1/Iova/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA NV/MinnesotA/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea2014		120 CNTNATARLRI	130 CCPPDNKILGPT SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI		150	160	178 HSVVGTHUNND		190 Y Y FY Y KND & NVA TKU H. H. H.	200 . I CYN . D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/VFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingYua/Vist VN/VAP113_1/2013/BungYen/Vi (GGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CH/SUZE-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012 SJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 IA1/Owa/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA/ NUDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014		120 . GNTNATARLRI	130 COPPONKTLGPT SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI			160	170 HSVVCITHONDP	180 1	190 	200 . I CYN . D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAPI13_1/2013/VingTua/Vist VN/VAPI13_1/2013/BungYen/Vi (CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 CH/FJZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/201 JS-BZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2012 JS-BZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2012 JS-BZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2011 AB2012/Anhiu/China/2011 AB2012/Anhiu/China/2011 CH/ZM22/11/Henan/China/2011 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Coladu/USA/ USA/Colorado/S01/Jowa/USA/2 NM/Hinnesota/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-01/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-01/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-01/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-01/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-01/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-01/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-01/Korea/2014		120 	130 CCPPDNKILGPT SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI. SI.		150	160	178 HSVVGTHUNNP		190 Y Y FY Y KND & KVA TKU H. H. H.	200 I CYN D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/VFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingYua/Viet VN/KAP113_1/2013/BungYen/Vi (CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CJ-15/Uubei/China/2011 GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012 SJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 CH/ZMD2Y/11/Henan/China/2011 IA1/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2013 IUSA/Colorado/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/USA/2013/Iowa/USA/2 MN/Minnesota/USA/2013/Iowa/USA/2 MN/Minnesota/USA/2013/Iowa/USA/2 MN/DL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 USA/Iowa/1894/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 KNU-1305/Korea/2013/Ioma/USA/2		120	130 COPPONKTLGPT SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI			160	170 HSVVCITHONDP		190 	200 . 1 CYN . D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAPI13_1/2013/VingTua/Vist VN/VAPI13_1/2013/SungYen/Vi (CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 CJ-Guangdong/China/2011 CH/FJZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/2011 CH/FJZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012 JS-BZ2012/Jingsu/China/2011 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 AH2012/Anhiu/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 IA1/IO24/Jingsu/China/2011 CH/ZM2Z/11/Henan/China/2011 IA1/IO24/JingSu/China/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Coladu/USA/ USA/Colorado/2013/Coladu/USA/ USA/Colorado/2013/Coladu/USA/2 NM/Hinnesota/USA/2013 WIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-P		120 	130 		150	160	178 HSVVCITHONDP		190 	200 . 1 CYN . D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/SPI013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAPI13_1/2013/VingYua/Viet VN/KAPI13_1/2013/BungYen/Vi (GGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CJ-15/Uubei/China/2011 GD-16/Uubei/China/2011 GD-16/Uubei/China/2012 SJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 IA1/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA USA/ColorAdo/2013/Colorada/USA WN/Hinnesota/USA/2013 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-EED-2014-001/Korea/2014 CH/F/NDD-3/2011/Fujian/China/20		120 GNTNATARLRI GNTNATARLRI 	130 COPPONKTLGPT SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI			160 1 PARMS	170 HSVVCITHONDP		190 	200 I CYN D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/FP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAPI13_1/2013/VingTua/Vist VN/VAPI13_1/2013/SungYen/Vi (CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 CJ-JGuangdong/China/2011 CJ-JGuangdong/China/2011 GJ-8/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-8/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-8/Guangdong/China/2011 GJ-8/Guangdong/China/2012 JS-BZ2012/Jingsu/China/2012 JS-BZ2012/Jingsu/China/2011 AB2012/Janbiu/China/2012 GS-2011-JBeijing/China/2011 AB2012/Anhiu/China/2011 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA USA/Lowa/18804/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 ISA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 ISA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 ISA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana CH/FND-3/2011/Fwijan/China/201 CH/S/Shanghai/China/2012		120 I.I.I.I GNTNATARLRI I.I.I.I.I.I I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.	130 		150	160 PAIM 5	178 HSVVCITHONDP		190 	200 - 1 CYN - D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/SPI013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAPI13_1/2013/VingYua/Viet VN/KAPI13_1/2013/BungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 CJ/GUANGdong/China/2011 CJ/SZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/201 GD-3/Guangdong/China/2012 GJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 GJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 GJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 GJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2013 GD-9349/co/USA/2013 USA/Colcra0/S2013 USA/Colcra0/2013/Colcrad/USA USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 MM/Minnesota/USA/2013 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea/2014 CH2/SJANGN/S/2013 KNU-1305/Korea/2014 KUSA/Indma/17846/2013/Indiana CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/202 CH3/Shandong/China/1986		120 II. GNTNATARLRI GNTNATARLRI IS. IS. S. IS. S. IS.	130 COPPONKTLGPT SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI			160 1994110 5 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 100	170 HSVVCITHONDP	180 1	190 	200 - 1 CYN - D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/FP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAPI13_1/2013/VingYua/Viet VN/KAPI13_1/2013/SungYen/Vi (CHGO-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 CJ-Guangdong/China/2011 CJ-Guangdong/China/2011 CJ-ZJCZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011 GD-8/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-8/Guangdong/China/2011 GJ-ZJ1-1/Beijing/China/2012 JS-BZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2011 AZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2011 AZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2011 GD-8/Guangdong/China/2011 AZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2011 AZ2012/JiAnbiu/China/2011 GJ-Z011-JBeijing/China/2011 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA VIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 USA/Iowa/1894/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 CH/SJNS-J2011/Fujian/China/20 CH/S/Shanghai/China/2012 Attenuated_Waccine/Hubei/China/2012		120 II. GNTNATARLRI IS. IS. S. IS. S. I. S. I. S. I. S. I.	130 	140 2 NINE V - 2 NINE	150	160 PAIM 5 	178 HSVVCITHONDP		190 	200 - 1 CYN - D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/SPI013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAPI13_1/2013/VingYua/Viet VN/KAPI13_1/2013/BungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CH/FVZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/201 CH/FVZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011 TA1/Towa/15465/2013/Towa/USA/2 MN/Minnesota/USA/2013 USA/Colorad/2013/Colorad/USA/2 MN/Minnesota/USA/2013 NUDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2003 KUE-2014-001/Korea/2003 KUE-2014-001/Korea/2003 KUE-2014-001/Korea/2003 KUE-2014-001/Korea/2		120 1	130 COPPONKTLGPT SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI			160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160	176 HSVVCITHONDP HSVVCITHONDP NI NI NI NI NI NI NI NI NI	180 I I V VTVISDE F	190 	200 - 1 CYN - D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/FP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAPI13_1/2013/VingYua/Vist VN/KAPI13_1/2013/KungYua/Vist VN/KCHY-310113/2013/KungYua/Vist VN/GGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 CD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CH/FIZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/201 SJ-8Z2012/Jiangsu/China/2011 GD-9/Guangdong/China/2012 JS-8Z2012/Jiangsu/China/2011 AH2012/Anhiu/China/2011 CH/EDZY/11/Henan/China/2011 IA1/I0va/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA USA/Colorado/2013/Colorada/USA USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 MV/Minnesota/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 USA/Iowa/USA/2013/Iowa/USA/2 MN/Minnesota/USA/2013/Iowa/USA/2 MN/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana CH/EJMD-3/2011/Fujian/China/201 CH/Shanghai/China/1986 SD-M/Shanghai/China/2012 Attenuated_Waccine/Hubei/China Attenuated_DR13/Korea/2003 JS2008/Jiangsu/China/2013		120 II. GNTNATARLRI IS. IS. S. IS. S. IS.	130 	140 2 NINE V - 2 NINE V - 4		160 PAIM 5 	178 HSVVCITHONDP	180 V TVUSDEN F. F. F. F. F. F. F. F. F. F.	190 	200 - 1 CYN - D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/SPI013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAPI13_1/2013/VingYua/Viet VN/KAPI13_1/2013/BungYen/Vi CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CH/FVZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012 GJZ24/Jiangsu/China/2011 GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011 TA1/Tow4/DSA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorad/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/014 KUIDL-D13/S0K0Ea/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/014 SA/Iowa/18804/2013/Indiana CH/FyND-3/2011/Fujian/China/200 CHS/Shandong/China/1986 SD-M/Shandong/China/1986 SD-M/Shandong/China/2008 Virulent_R13/Korea/1999 SM98/Korea/1998		120 	130 COPPONKTLGPT SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI			160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160	176 HSVVCITHONDP HSVVCITHONDP NI NI NI NI NI NI NI NI NI NI NI NI DI	180 1	190 	200 . 1 CYN . D
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 VN/FP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAPI13_1/2013/VingYua/Vist VN/KAPI13_1/2013/BungYen/Vi (CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2012 GJC4/Jiangsu/China/2011 GD-1/JBeijing/China/2012 GJC4/Jiangsu/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2012 GJC4/Jiangsu/China/2012 GJC4/Jiangsu/China/2011 AH2012/Anhiu/China/2012 GJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 AH2012/Anhiu/China/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GJ-01349/co/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/CoradJUSA USA/Colorado/2013/CoradJUSA/ USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 MN/Minnesota/USA/2013 KNUDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 WIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Ima/USA/2 TA2/Iowa/USA/2013 KNU-1305/Korea/2014 USA/Ioma/17846/2013/Indiana CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/2012 Attenuated_DR13/Korea/2003 JS2008/Jiangsu/China/2008 Virulent_DR13/Korea/1999 SN98/Korea/1998 LS2/Lanzbu/China/2006		120 	130 		150	160 PAIM 5 	178 HSVVCITHONDP	180 VVTUSDA F. F. F. F. F. F. F. F. F. F.	190 	200 - 1 CYN - D

Figure 11. Multiple amino acid sequences alignments of spike protein of Vietnamese PEDV isolates with other isolates available in Genbank.

4.2.4 The ORF3 gene sequence

The ORF3 of Vietnamese PEDV isolates is 675 nucleotides in length and encodes for 225 amino acids. The phylogenetic analysis based on the ORF3 gene revealed that all PEDV isolates were divided into four groups, designated G1, G2, G3 and G4 (Figure 12). Group G1 consisted of CV777, SM98 and LZC. Group G2 contained 3 Chinese isolates (JS2008, SD-M and attenuated vaccine) and attenuated DR13, which is a vaccine isolate from Korea. Isolates in Group G2 have the unique characteristic of a 17-amino-acid deletion at positions 82-98 (Figure 13). Group G3 included isolates from the United States and China as well as 5 Korean field isolates (Virulent-DR13, KNU-1305, KUIDL-PED-2014-007, KUIDL-PED-2014-002, KUIDL-PED-2014-001). All three PEDV isolates from Vietnam were in Group G4 along with seven Chinese isolates (CH/GDGZ/2012, GD-A, GD-1, LC, AJ1102, CHGD-01 and ZJCZ4). Isolates in Group G4 possess four unique amino acid substitutions (^L25^S, ^I70^V, ^C107^F and ^D168^N) compared to isolates in the other groups. The VN/KCHY-310113/2013 isolate has two more amino acid changes (^F57^L and ^C100^R) and an amino acid substitution (¹203^V) in JFP10113-1 and VAP1113-1 compared to the other isolates (Figure 13). Sequence analysis showed that the three Vietnamese PEDV isolates share 98.5%-99.4% and 98.2%-99.5% nucleotide and amino acid identity with other strains in Group G4. The homology of nucleotides and amino acids is 95.5%-97.0% and 95.9%-97.3%, 89.3%-89.7% and 89.2%-90.1%, and 91.5%-96.2% and 89.7%-95.0% compared to groups G3, 2 and 1, respectively (Table 7).

Table 7. The nucleotide and amino acid identities of ORF3 gene of the three

 Vietnamese PEDV strains compare with other isolates available in Genbank.

Groups	Nucleotide identity (%)	Amino acid identity (%)
G 4	98.5 – 99.4	98.2 – 99.5
G 3	95.5 – 97.0	95.9 – 97.3
G 2	89.3 - 89.7	89.2 - 90.1
G 1	91.5 – 96.2	89.7 – 95.0



Figure 12. Phylogenetic analysis by neighbor- joining method (bootstrapping for 1000 replicase) based on the nucleotide sequences of ORF3 gene of three Vietnamese PEDV strains with other isolates available in Genbank. The Vietnamese PEDV isolates were in the red circle symbols in front of their name.

	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
		1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1	$1 + \cdots + 1 + \cdots$		****1****	lesse lesse les		• • • 1 • • •	· I · · · · I · · · · I · · ·	- 1
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2	MFLGLFQYTIDTV	VKDVSKSANLS	SDAVQELEL	NVVPIRQASNVI	GFLFTSVFI	YFFALFKASSLRI	RNYVMLAARF	AVILLYC	PLLYYCGAFLDATI	CC
GD-A/guangdong/China/2012	•••••	••••••			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • • • • • • • • •		· · · · F. · ·	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • •
LC/Guangdong/China/2011_	•••••	•••••								• • •
AT1102/Hubei/China/2011										
CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011								F		
ZJCZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011					F			F		
JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/								F		
VAP1113_1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam								F		
VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi						T.		TP.		
USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana	• • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • •	L		• • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	I	· · · V · · ·	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014	•••••	•••••	L		• • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	···‡·····	· · · · V · · ·	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • •
13-019349/CO/USA/2013 USA/Towa/18984/2013/Towa/USA/2	•••••		T.		• • • • • • • • • •		••••	· · · · V · · ·		
TA1 / Towa / USA / 2013 / Towa / USA / 2	•••••	•••••	T.		• • • • • • • • • •		···•	· · · · v · · · ·		
USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA			L				Ŧ	v		
USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2			L				т	v		
MN/Minnesota/USA/2013			L					v.		
IA2/Iowa/USA/2013			L					v		
KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014			L					v		
KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	L		• • • • • • • • • •		I	v	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • •	L		• • • • • • • • • •	S	<u>I</u>	· · · v · · ·	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011	•••••		L		• • • • • • • • • •			· · · · V · · ·		
GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012		•••••	T					· · · · V · · · ·		
JS-HZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2012			L					v.		
CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/20		.N.	L				T	. v.		
AH2012/Anhiu/China/2012			L				I	v		
CH/FJZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/20								v		
CH/S/Shanghai/China/1986			L					v		
										-
Attenuated vaccine/Hubei/China	•••••	•••••	L		• • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	···፤·····	· · · · F		
SD-M/Shandong/China/2012	•••••				• • • • • • • • • •		••••			
Attenuated DR13/Korea/2003			Т.				T	F		•••
LZC/Lanzhou/China/2006		· · · · · · · · · V · · ·	L		. K V		I	VF	L	
SM98/Korea/1998		v	L		V			VF	L	
CV777/Belgium/1978		v	L		v		I	VF	L	
	110	120	130	140	150	160	170	180	190	200
	110	120	130	140	150	160 .	170	180 • • • • • • • •	190	200 - 1
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2	110 TLIGRLFLVCFYS	120	130 	140	150 	160 . TFGNSFVAFVSS	170 . INLYLAIRGE	180 QEADLHI	190 LLRTVELLDGKKLYV	200 - 1 SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/guangdong/China/2011	110 	120 I WRYKNALFIII	130 LNTTTLSFLN	140	150 	160 TFGNS FVAFVSS	170 	180 QEADLHI	190 LLRTVELLDGKKLYV	200 - I SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 I/Guangdong/China/2011	110 TLIGRLFLVCFY	120 . I I SWRYKNALFII	130 	140 	150 	160 . TFGNSFVAFVSS	170 	180 I QEADLHI	190 LLRTVELLDGKKLYV	200 - I SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 (GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 (GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Whubi/China/2011	110 TLIGRLFLVCFY	120 	130 I LNTTTLS FLN	140 GKAAYYDGKSI	150 JILEGGDHYI	160 I I I . TFGNSFVAFVSS	170	180 QEADLHI	190 LLRTVELLDGKKLYV	200 - I SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 CIGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011	110 TLIGRLFLVCFY	120 	130 LNTTTLS FLN F	140 	150 JILEGGDHYI	160 . TFGNS FVAFVSS:	170	180 I	190	200 - I SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 ZJC24/Jiangsu/China/2011	110 TLIGRLFLVCFYS	120 	130 . LNTTTLSFLN F F F F	140	150 JILEGGDHYI	160 . TFGNS FVAFVSS	170	180 QEADLHI	190	200 - I SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 (D-A/guangdong/China/2012 (D-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 ZJCZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011 JZF2013_1/2013/Vinha/Vietnam/	110 I. TLIGRLFLVCFY	120	130 LNTTTLSFLN F F F F F F	140	150 JILEGGDHYI	160 TFGNS FVAFVSS	170 		190 	200 - 1 SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 2JC24/Jiangsu/China/2011 JF21013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1113_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/	110 TLIGRIFLVCFY	120 	130 LNTTTLSFLN F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	140	150 	160 II.I. TFGNS FVAFVSS	170 		190	200 - 1 SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 JPF1013 1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1113 1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP113 1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP113 1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/		120 .	130 LNTTTLS FLN F. F. F. F. F. F. F. F. F. F. F. F. F.	140	150 VILEGGDRYI	160 TFGNS FVAFVSS	170		190 .	200 - I SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 J2C24/Jiangsu/China/2011 J2F1013_1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PBD-2014-002/Korea/2014	110 TLIGRLFLVCFY C.	120 I.I.I.J. WRYKNALFII	130 LNTTTLSFLN F	140	150 JILEGGDHYI	160	170 INLYLAIRGF	180	190 I.I.R. VELLDORKLYV	200 - I - SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 L2/Guangdong/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 ZJC24/Jiangsu/China/2011 JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1113_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP113_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ USA/Infiana/17846/2013/Infiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 13-01934/Co(USA/2013	110 TLIGRLFLVCFYS C. C. C.	120 . 	130 130 1 INTTILSFLN F	140	150	160 . FGNS FVAFVSS	170 INLYLATROP	180 	190 LLREVELLDCKKLYV	200 - I SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 JFP1013 1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-310112/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-310112/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-310112/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-310112/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-310112/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-310112/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-310112/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-310112/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-310112/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-310112/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-310112/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-310112/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-31012/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-31012/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-31012/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-31012/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-31012/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-31012/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-3102/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-3102/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-3102/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-3102/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-3102/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-3102/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-3102/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-3102/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-3102/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-3102/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-3102/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-3102/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-3102/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zcuy-3102/VinhAn/Vietnam LA/zc	110 TLIGRLFLVCFY 	120 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	130 1	140 	150 	160 I. T. GNS FVA FVSS	170 INLYLAIRGE	180 	190 LLRIVELLDCKKLYV	200 . I TSQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 2JC24/Jiangsu/China/2011 JF21013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1113_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1113_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1113_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ IDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 IJ3-019349/Co/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013	110 TLIGRLFLVCFY	120 	130 1 I	140	150 	160	170 	180 	190	200 - I TSQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 ZJC24/Jiangsu/China/2011 JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1131_1/2013/VingTua/Vietnam USA/FCHUATUA/2013/UnagVan/Ui 13-019349/Co/USA/2013 USA/forwa/18984/2013/fowa/USA/2 IA1/fowa/US894/2013/fowa/USA/2 IA1/fowa/US894/2013/fowa/USA/2 IA1/fowa/US894/2013/fowa/USA/2		120 11 SWRYKNALFIII	130 1	140 GRAAYYDOKS TI	150 I IIIEGGDHYI	160	170 	180 	190 LLRTVELLDORKLYV	200 . I SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 Lc/Guangdong/China/2011 J102/Hubei/China/2011 ZCGZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011 J2CG24/Jiangsu/China/2011 J2P1013 1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ VAP113 1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ VAP113 1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ VAP113 1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ VAP113 1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17866/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 USA/Iowa/18894/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18894/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2		120 	130 1	140	150 TIEGGRAYI	160	170 	180 	190 L.R.TVELLDCKKLYV	200 . I . SQ
CH/GDG%/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 L2/Guangdong/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 ZJC24/Jiangsu/China/2011 JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana USA/Indiana/ISA/2013 USA/Indiana/ISA/2013/Indiana/USA/2013		120 1	130 	140 1	150 	160	170 	180 I QEADLHI Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	190 LLRIVELLDCKKLYV	200
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 JFP1013 1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1113 1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-FED-2014-002/Korea/2014 13-019349/Co/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/US84/2013 USA/Iowa/US84/2013 USA/Iowa/US84/2013 USA/Iowa/18894/2013/Iowa/USA/2 Inal/Iowa/US8/2013 USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 MM/Minnesota/USA/2013		120 11 SWRYKNALFIII		140	150 TILEGODH T	160 I I. I. I	170 	180 	190 L.R.TVELLDCKKLYV	200
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 ZJC24/Jiangsu/China/2011 JPF1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1113_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ IN/CCUV_310113/JONGTus/Vietnam IN/CCUV_310113/JONGTus/Vietnam IN/CCUV_310113/JONGTus/Vietnam IN/CCUV_310113/JONGTus/Vietnam IN/CCUV_310113/JONGTus/Vietnam IN/CCUV_31013/JONGTus/Vietnam IN/CCUV_31013/JONGTus/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 USA/Iowa/I858/2013 USA/Colorado/USA/2013 IN/IOWa/USA/2013 IN/IDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014		120 1		140 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	150 TILECODH I	i60 II.TGNS FVAFVSS	170 	180 	190 L. L. L. D. KKL YV	200 . I SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-A/guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 JTP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 13-019349/Co/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IAI/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IAI/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 MM/Minnesota/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014		120 1I. SWRYKNALFIII	120 1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.	140 GRAAYYDOKS TI	150 TILEGODH T	160	170 	180 	190	200 . I SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 J102/Hubei/China/2011 ZCGZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011 J2CC4/Jiangsu/China/2011 J2TP1013 1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ VAPI113 1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ VAPI113 1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ VAPI113 1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Iota/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Iota/USA/2 IIa/Iota/USA/2013 USA/Iota/USA/2013 USA/Iota/USA/2013 USA/Iota/0SA/2013 USA/Iota/0SA/2013/Iota/USA/2 IMA/Intesota/USA/2013/Iota/USA/2 IMA/Intesota/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011		120 1			150 JILEGODH II	160 I I	170 	180 	190 L.R.IVELLDCKKLYV	200 . 1 . 1 . 5
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 JCTC4/Jiangsu/China/2011 JFP1013_1/2013/VunhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1131_1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 IADIL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014		120 1	130 1 1 1 LANTTLSFLN E. E. E. E. E. E. E. E. E. E.	140 1	150 TILEGEDH IT	160	170 D	180 	190 LLRIVELLDCKKLYV	200 . I
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 JTP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 13-019349/CC/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/L8984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/L8984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/L8984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/L8984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 RNU-1305/Korea/2013 GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012		120 11 SWRYKNALFIII	120 1	140 GRAAYYDOKS T	150 TILEGODH T	160 T GNS FVAFVSS L L	170 	180 	190 LLRIVELLDCKKLVV	200
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CH/GD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 20724/Jiangsu/China/2011 JPF1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1113_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP113_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VB/UGU-310113/2013/GuangVon/UI 13-019349/Co/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 MM/Minnesota/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012		120 1	130 1	140 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	150 TILEGEDH IT	160 II.TGNS FVAFVSS	170 D	180 	190 LLRIVELLDCKKLYV	200 - I - SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-A/guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 JTP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ JTP21013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 MM/Minnesota/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2013 GD-H/Guangdong/China/2012 US-H22012/Jianggu/China/2012		120 1I SWRYKNALFIII		140 GRAAYYDOKS TI	150 TILECODHT	160 I I. I	170 	180 QEADLH QEA	190	200 . I SQ
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 D2/Guangdong/China/2011 J2CE4/Jiangsu/China/2011 J2CE4/Jiangsu/China/2011 JFP1013_1/2013/VunAfn/Vietnam/ VAF1113_1/2013/VunAfna/Vietnam/ IM/CCUV-310113/JONGTua/Vietnam/ IM/CCUV-310113/JONGTua/Vietnam/ IM/CCUV-310113/JONGTua/Vietnam/ IM/CCUV-310113/JONGTua/Vietnam/ IM/CCUV-310113/JONGTua/Vietnam/ IM/COV-31013/JONGTua/Vietnam/ Starta/Vietnam/ Starta/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 USA/Iowa/J6465/2013/Jowa/USA/2 IM/Minnesota/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2011 KUIDL-JSO/Korea/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2011 KUIDL-JSO/Korea/2012 JS-HE2012/Jiangg/China/2012 JS-HE2012/Jiangs/China/2012 JS-HE2012/Anhin/China/2012		120 1		J40 J J40 GKAAYYDGKSI	150 TILECODHYT	IGO II.TGNS FVAFVSS	170 D	180 	190 L.R. VELLDCKKL V	200
CH/GDGX/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 L2/Guangdong/China/2011 CH/GD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 CH/GD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 13-019349/Co/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 GD-B/Guangdong/China/2011 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 BJ-8/Guangdong/China/2012 CH/FUXZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012 CH/FUXZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012 CH/FUXZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012		120 11 SWRYKNALFII	130 -1 - 1 - 1 -1 - 1 - 1 -1 - 1 - 1 -1 - 1 - 1 -1 - 1 -	140 1 GRAAYYDGKS I GRAAYYDGKS I	150 TILEGEDH IT	160 II.TGNSFVAFVSS	170 D.	180 QEADLH QEADLH QEADLH QEADLH QUART QUAR	190 LRTVELDOKKLYV	200
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 JJ102/Hubei/China/2011 ZCGZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011 JJTP1013 1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ VAP1113 1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ VAP1113 1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Ioua/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Ioua/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Ioua/VSA/2 IA1/Ioua/USA/2013 USA/Ioua/USA/2013 USA/Ioua/USA/2013 USA/Ioua/USA/2013 USA/Ioua/USA/2013 USA/Ioua/USA/2013 USA/Ioua/USA/2013 USA/Ioua/USA/2013 USA/Ioua/USA/2013 INJDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 CH/SUD3/Korea/2012 USA/Ioua/2012/Jiangtu/China/2012 USA/Shangdan/China/2012 CH/FXID-3/2011/Fujian/China/2012 CH/FXID-3/2011/China/2012 CH/FXID-2/2012/Jian/China/2012 CH/FXID-2/2012/China/1966 Virulant CB13/Korea21966			130 1	140	150 TILEGODH T	160 I I	170 		190 L.R.TVELLDCKKLYV	200
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-A/guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 JCT24/Jiangsu/China/2011 JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VB/UGW-310113/2013/Guargeon/UI USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 13-019349/Co/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 IM/Inmesota/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-01/Korea/2014 SS-E22012/JiangSu/China/2012 GF/FXUZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012 CH/FXUZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012 CH/FXUZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012 Virulent DR13/Korea/1999 Virulent DR13/Korea/Bubei/China		120 1.1 SWRYKNALFII	130 1 1 1 LANTTILSFLM E. E. E. E. E. E. E. E. E. E.	140 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	150 TILEGEDH IT	160 II.TGNS FVAFVSS	170 D		190 LLRIVELLDCKKLYV	200
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 ZCZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011 JJ2013/VingTua/Vietnam/ VaP113 1/2013/VingTua/Vietnam/ VaP113 1/2013/VingTua/Vietnam/ VaP113 1/2013/VingTua/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 MJ/Inwa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 CH/ZMDZY/11/Benan/China/2011 KMUID-1305/Korea/2014 CH/ZMDZY/11/Benan/China/2012 US-821012/Jiangsu/China/2012 CH/FUND-3/2011/Fujian/China/2012 CH/FUND-3/2011/Fujian/China/2012 CH/SJSangdanj/China/2012 CH/SJSangdanj/China/2012 CH/SJSangdai/China/2012 CH/SJSanghai/China/2012 CH/SJSanghai/China/2012 CH/SJSanghai/China/2012 CH/SJSanghai/China/2012 CH/SJSanghai/China/2012 CH/SJSanghai/China/2012 CH/SJSanghai/China/2012 CH/SJSanghai/China/2012 CH/SJSanghai/China/2012 Sb-M/Shandog/China/2012		120 1I SWRYKNALFII		140 GRAAYYDOKS TI	150 TILEGODH T	160 TGNSFVAFVSS L	170 		190 L.R.TVELLDORKLYV	200
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 JJ102/Hubei/China/2011 JCH(Jiangsu/China/2011 JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1113_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1113_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 13-019349/Co/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18894/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/18894/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/18894/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/18894/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/16455/2013/Iowa/USA/2 MM/Minnesota/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2012 GH/Guangdong/China/2012 CH/F/JSAnhu/China/2012 CH/F/JSAnhu/China/2012 CH/F/JSAndong/China/2012 CH/S/Shandong/China/2012 Virulent_DR13/Korea/Is999 Attenuated_vaccine/Bubei/China/20		120 1		140 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	150 TILECODHIT	160 . TGNS FVAFVSS 	170 D		190 LREVELLDCKKLYV	200
CH/GDGX/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 L2/Guangdong/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 JTP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VM2P1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VM2P1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VM2P1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VM2P1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VM2P1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VM2P1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VM2P1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VM2P1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VM2P1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VM2P1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VM2P1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VM2P1131_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VM2P1131_1/2013/UNAP12013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 GD-B/Guangdong/China/2011 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 CH/FUZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012 CH/FUZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012 CH/FUZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012 SD-M/Shandhai/China/2018 Attenuated_VACCina/2008 Attenuated_USA/SONFA		120 1.1. SWRYKNALFII	130 130 INTITISSEL P. P. P. P. P. P. P. P. P. P.	140 1 GRAAYYDGKS II	150 TILEGEDH IT	160 TGNSFVAFVSS L	170 D. D. D. D. D. D. D. D. D. D.		190 LRRVELDORKLYV	200
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 L/Guangdong/China/2011 JJ102/Hubei/China/2011 ZJCZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011 JJF1013 1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ VAP1113 1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam/ IM/Argur-110112/2013/dungZua/2014 USA/Indiana/17846/2013/IONA/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/IONA/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18984/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 INJL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011 KNUDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011 KNU-1305/Korea/2013 GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012 USA/Iowa/USA/2012 USA/Iowa/USA/2012 USA/Iowa/2014/China/2012 CH/FNID-3/2011Fujian/China/2012 CH/FNID-3/2011Fujian/China/2012 CH/FNID-3/2011Fujian/China/2012 SD-M/Shanghai/China/2012 JS2008/Jiangsu/China/2005 Attenuated_DR13/Korea/2003 LZC/Langbu/China/2006				I	150 ILECODHYT	160 T GNS FVAFVSS L L H H	170 		190 LLRIVELLDCKKLVV	200
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 GD-A/guangdong/China/2012 GD-A/guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 JPF1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ VAP1113_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/ USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 13-019349/Co/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 IM/Inmesota/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 GJ-B/Guangdong/China/2012 GH/SJZS-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012 CH/SJZS-9/2012/Fujian/China/2012 USA/Ioma/Shandong/China/2012 CH/SJAndong/China/2012 USA/Shandong/China/2012 USA/Shandong/China/2013 Attenuated_DR13/Korea/1999 Attenuated_DR13/Korea/2003 Attenuated_DR13/Korea/2003 Attenuated_DR13/Korea/2003	110 TLIGRLFLVCFY C. C. C. C. C. C. C. C. C. C.	120 	130 1 1 1 LANTTILSFLM C	140 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	150 TILEGEDHIT	160 I I	170 D.		190 LLRIVELLDCKKLYV	200

Figure 13. Multiple amino acid sequences alignments of ORF3 protein of Vietnamese

PEDV isolates with other isolates available in Genbank.

	1	210	220
		1	
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2	HQIVGITNA	AFDSIQLE	EYATISE*
GD-A/guangdong/China/2012	.H		
GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011			• • • • • • • • • *
LC/Guangdong/China/2011			•••••
AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011			*******
CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011			******
ZJCZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011			******
JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/	V		******
VAP1113_1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam	V		******
VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi			******
USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana		¥	* *
KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014			******
13-019349/Co/USA/2013			*****
USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2			******
IA1/Iowa/USA/2013			******
USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA			* *
USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2			******
MN/Minnesota/USA/2013			******
IA2/Iowa/USA/2013			******
KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014			******
KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014			******
CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011			******
BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011			*******
KNU-1305/Korea/2013			******
GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012			• • • • • • • • • •
JS-HZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2012			******
CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/20			******
AH2012/Anhiu/China/2012			*
CH/FJZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/20			* • • • • • • • •
CH/S/Shanghai/China/1986			*
Virulent_DR13/Korea/1999			* • • • • • • • •
Attenuated_vaccine/Hubei/China			******
SD-M/Shandong/China/2012			*
JS2008/Jiangsu/China/2008			******
Attenuated_DR13/Korea/2003			*******
LZC/Lanzhou/China/2006			* • • • • • • •
SM98/Korea/1998			******
CV777/Belgium/1978			* *

Figure 13. Multiple amino acid sequences alignments of ORF3 protein of Vietnamese PEDV isolates with other isolates available in Genbank (continued).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

4.2.5 The E gene sequence

The E gene of PEDV isolates from Vietnam has 231 nucleotides, encoding for 77 amino acids. A phylogenetic analysis based on E protein demonstrated that all PEDV isolates were classified into two distinct groups, designated G1 and G2. PEDV isolates from Vietnam were in group 2 along with the recent PEDV from China and the United States (Figure 14). All 3 PEDV isolates from Vietnam showed an amino acid change (^T51^I) compared to other isolates (Figure 15). The nucleotide and amino acid homologies of Vietnamese PEDV strains are 97.8%-99.5% and 97.3%-98.6% compared to other isolates in Group G2. When the Vietnamese strains are compared to Group G1, the nucleotide and amino acid identities are 88.3%-97.8% and 85.5%-97.3%, respectively (Table 8).

Table 8. The nucleotide and amino acid homology of envelope gene of the three

 Vietnamese PEDV strains compare with other isolates.

Groups	Nucleotide homology (%)	Amino acid homology (%)
G 2	97.8 – 99.5	97.3 – 98.6
G 1	88.3 – 97.8	85.5 – 97.3
	O	

GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY



Figure 14. Phylogenetic analysis by neighbor- joining method (bootstrapping for 1000 replicase) based on the nucleotide sequences of envelope gene of three Vietnamese PEDV with other isolates available in Genbank. The Vietnamese PEDV isolates were in the red circle symbols in front of their name

		10	20	30	40	50	60	70
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2	MLOLVNI	NCLWWNVTLWI	PVI.PPI.I.TTS	TTRUOLVNLC	PTCHRIC NS	VVTPTCPLVI	NVVKSVMOT DE	DI.DSTVTDV*
JFP1013 1/2013/VinhAn/Vietnam/						I		*
VAP1113 1/2013/VungTua/Vietnam						I		*
VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen/Vi								**
GD-A/Guangdong/China/2012								*
AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011								*
CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011								L*
Virulent DR13/Korea/1999								*
GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011			.A					* *
LC/Guangdong/China/2011								*
ZJCZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011								******
JS-HZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2012								* *
AH2012/Anhiu/China/2012								
BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011								*
GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012								
KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014								*
MN/Minnesota/USA/2013								* *
USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2								*
CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/20								*
CH/FJZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/20								
KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014								*
KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014								
KNU-1305/Korea/2013								*
IA2/Iowa/USA/2013								*
USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana								*
USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA								· • • • • • • • • • • • •
USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2								*
IA1/Iowa/USA/2013								*
13-019349/Co/USA/2013								*
JS2008/Jiangsu/China/2008	S	 A. . 						I*
Attenuated_DR13/Korea/2003		 A. .						I*
SD-M/Shandong/China/2012		A						I*
Attenuated_vaccine/Hubei/China		A						I*
CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011				K				*
CH/S/Changhai/China/1986				I				*
SM98/Korea/1998				F				н.*
LZC/Lanzhou/China/2006							R. EF	R*
CV777/Belgium/1978					• • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • •	R	• • • • • • • • • • • •

Figure 15. Multiple amino acid sequences alignments of envelope protein of Vietnamese PEDV isolates with other isolates available in Genbank.



4.2.6 The M gene sequence

The M gene of all Vietnamese PEDV isolates is 681 nucleotides in length and codes for 226 amino acids. No insertion or deletion mutations were found in the M gene of these isolates. Phylogenetic analysis indicated that all PEDV isolates were separated into two groups, designated G1 and G2 (Figure 16). Group 1 consisted of CV777, 5 isolates from China (SD-M, LZC, CH/S, attenuated vaccine and JS2008) and 2 isolates from Korea (SM98 and attenuated DR13). Three Vietnamese PEDV isolates were in subgroup 2-1 along with 7 Chinese isolates (CH/GDGZ/2012, CHGD-01, GD-A, GD-1, LC, ZJCZ4 and AJ1102) with 99.1%-100% amino acid identity. These isolates also have an amino acid change ($^{G}192^{S}$) when compared to other groups. Group 2-2 contains all the US isolates, 6 isolates from China (CH/FJZZ-9/2012, GD-B, JS-HZ2012, AH2012, BJ-2011-1 and CH/FJND-3/2011) and 4 isolates from Korea (KNU-1305, KUIDL-KUIDL-PED-2014-002, KUIDL-PED-2014-001). PED-2014-007, This group was characterized by 2 amino acid changes (${}^{E}13^{Q}$ and ${}^{A}214^{S}$). All PEDV isolates in Group 2 shared an amino acid mutation from V to A at amino acid position 42. The virulent isolate DR13 from Korea clustered separately in subgroup 2-3, as it possessed an additional amino acid change (^F43^L) (Figure 17). Sequence analysis revealed that the Vietnamese PEDV strains shared 99.5%-99.8% and 99.1%-100% identity in nucleotide and amino acid levels, respectively, with Chinese strains in subgroup G2-1. When the Vietnamese PEDV strains were compared with those in Group G2-2, the homologies of nucleotides and amino acids were 98.3%-98.8% and 98.2%-98.6%, respectively. When these strains were compared with those in Group G1, the homologies of nucleotides and amino acids were 96.6%-98.6% and 96.5%-99.1%, respectively (Table 9).

Table	9.	The	nucl	eotide	and	amino	acid	homo	logy	of	meml	orane	gene	of	the	three
Vietnar	me	se P	EDV s	strains	com	oare wi	th ot	her iso	lates	5.						

Groups	Nucleotide homology (%)	Amino acid homology (%)
G 2-2	98.3 – 98.8	98.2 – 98.6
G 2-1	99.5 – 99.8	99.1 - 100
G 1	96.6 – 98.6	96.5 – 99.1



Figure 16. Phylogenetic analysis by neighbor- joining method (bootstrapping for 1000 replicase) based on the nucleotide sequences of membrane gene of three Vietnamese PEDV strains with other isolates available in Genbank. The Vietnamese PEDV isolates were in the red circle symbols in front of their name.





Vietnamese PEDV isolates with other isolates available in Genbank.

			210		220		230	
			1			- 1	I .	
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China	a/2	FYVRSK	GDYSA	VSNPSA	VLTD	BKV	LHLV*	
VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vic	etn						*	
VN/VAP1113_1/2013/VungTua/V	iet						*	
VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen,	/Vi						*	
CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/201	1			N.			*	r.
GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011							*	
GD-A/Guangdong/China/2012							*	
LC/Guangdong/China/2011				• · · · · •			*	r.
ZJCZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011							*	
AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011							*	r.
CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China	/20			S			*	L
AH2012/Anhiu/China/2012				S		• • • •	*	1
KNU-1305/Korea/2013		· · · · · · ·	· · · · ·	s		• • • •	*	1
KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/202	14			s		• • • •	*	1
USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA	A/2			s		• • • •	*	1
KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/202	14			s		• • • •	*	1
CH/FJZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China,	/20	· · · · · · ·	· · · · ·	S	• • • •	• • • •	• • • • *	1
USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/US	A/2	• • • • • • •	· · · · ·	••••S	• • • •	• • • •	*	1
IA2/Iowa/USA/2013		· · · · · · ·	· · · · ·	S	• • • •	• • • •	• • • • *	1
13-019349/Co/USA/2013		• • • • • •	• • • • •	••••S	• • • •	• • • •	• • • • *	1
IA1/Iowa/USA/2013	-		· · · · ·	S	• • • •	••••	• • • • *	1
JS-HZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2013	2	• • • • • •	• • • • •	••••S	• • • •	••••	• • • • *	1
CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2013	1	• • • • • • •	· · · · ·	••••S	• • • •	••••	••••	1
MN/Minnesota/USA/2013		• • • • • •	· · · · ·	••••S	• • • •	• • • •	• • • • *	1
USA/Indiana/17846/2013/India	ana	• • • • • • •	· · · · ·	••••S	• • • •	••••	• • • • *	1
GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012		• • • • • •	· · · · ·	s	• • • •	• • • •	••••	1
USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/	USA		· · · · ·	s	• • • •	••••	••••	1
KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea201	4	• • • • • • •	• • • • •	s	• • • •	••••	••••	l
BJ-2011-1/beijing/China/201	1			S			*	J
Virulent DR13/Korea/1999		• • • • • • •	•••••	•••••	• • • •	••••	••••	
JS2008/Jiangsu/China/2008		• • • • • • •	•••••	•••••	• • • •	••••	••••	
Attenuated DR13/Korea/2003			•••••	•••••	• • • •	••••	•••••	
SD-M/Shandong/China/2012		• • • • • • •	• • • • •	• • • • • •	••••	••••	••••2	
Attenuated vaccine/Hubei/Ch:	ina	• • • • • • •	•••••	•••••	••••		••••	
CH/S/Shanghai/China/1986			• • • • •	····s	••••	Б.	••••2	
SM90/KOIEZ/1998		• • • • • • •	•••••	•••••	••••	· • • •	••••	
CU777/Bolgium/1979		• • • • • • •	• • • • •	•••••	••••		••••	

Figure 17. Multiple amino acid sequences alignments of membrane protein of Vietnamese PEDV isolates with other isolates available in Genbank (continued)

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn Universit

4.2.7 The N gene sequence

Sequence analyses of the N gene revealed that all Vietnamese PEDV isolates are 1,326 nucleotides in length and encode 441 amino acids. These isolates have 95.6%-98.7% nucleotide and 95.0%-97.9% amino acid identity with other isolates, and the highest homology is with CHGD-01 from China at the nucleotide (98.7%) and amino acid (97.7%-97.9%) levels. The phylogenetic tree based on the nucleotide sequences of the N gene indicated that all PEDV isolates were classified into two groups, designated G1 and G2 (Figure 18). The three Vietnamese PEDV isolates were in subgroup G2 along with 6 Chinese isolates (CH/GDGZ2012, CHGD-01, GD-1, LC, AJ1102, and GD-A) with nucleotide and amino acid identities ranging from 97.4%-98.7% and 95.0%-97.9% (Table 10). When compared to Group G1, these strains shared 95.6%-97.5% and 95.9%-97.9% nucleotide and amino acid homology, respectively (Table 10). There was no insertion or deletion in this region. Compared to other isolates, all Vietnamese PEDV isolates possessed 5 amino acid substitutions (^N146^S, ^P248^L, ^K312^R, ^G313^V, and ^T356^I). And one amino acid change from G to P at amino acid position 84 compared to the CV777 strain (except VN/KCHY-310113) (Figure 19).

Groups	Nucleotide homology (%)	Amino acid homology (%)
G 2	97.4 - 98.7%	95.0 - 97.9
G 1	95.6 - 97.5	95.9 - 97.9

Table 10. The nucleotide and amino acid homology of nucleocapsid gene of the three Vietnamese PEDV strains compare with other isolates.



Figure 18. Phylogenetic analysis by neighbor- joining method (bootstrapping for 1000 replicase) based on the nucleotide sequences of nucleocapsid gene of three Vietnamese PEDV strains with other isolates available in Genbank. The Vietnamese PEDV isolates were in the red circle symbols in front of their name.

	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2	MASVSFODRCRKRVI	T.SI.VAPI.RVT	DKPLSKVLA	NNAVPTNKCN	KDOOTGYW	NEOTRWRMRRGR	RTROPSNWH	FYYLGTGPHA	DI.RYRTRTECV	TEWVAK
CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011	MAS VOT OD RORALIN		DREDSRUM				ALL OF ON ALL			
VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn					· · · · · · · · ·			P		
VN/VAP1113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	••••••	••••••	••••	P	•••••	
GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011				· · · · · · · · · · · · ·		т				
LC/Guangdong/China/2011						т				
AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011		•••••	N	••••••	••••••	T	• • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	
GD-A/Guangdong/China/2012					•••••	т	•••••			
IA2/Iowa/USA/2013										
KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				• • • • • • • • •		• • • • • • • • • • • •			
KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014	•••••	•••••	•••••	••••••	••••••	••••••	••••	• • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	
USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana				· · · · · · · · · · · · ·						
13-019349/Co/USA/2013										
IA1/Iowa/USa/2013	•••••	•••••	•••••	· · · · · · · · · · · ·	••••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	••••	• • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	• • • • • •
USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2										
USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2										
USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA	•••••	•••••	•••••	••••••	••••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	••••	• • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	
KNU-1305/Korea/2014 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011	•••••		•••••	•••••	••••••	••••••	••••	• • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	
GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012										
JS-HZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2012	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				• • • • • • • • •		• • • • • • • • • • • •			
AH2012/Anhiu/China/2012	•••••	•••••		••••••	••••••	••••••	••••	• • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	
CH/FJND-3/2012/Fujian/China/20				· · · · · · · · · · · ·						
CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011										
Virulent DR13/Korea/1999	•••••	•••••	•••••	· · · · · · · · · · · ·	••••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	••••	• • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	• • • • • •
JS2008/Jiangsu/Chipa/2008	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••			••••••		•••••		•••••	
Attenuated DR13/Korea/2003										
SD-M/Shandong/China/2012	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • •		· · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • • • • •		• • • • • • • • • • • •			
CH/S/Shanghai/China/1986 SM98/Korea/1998	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	••••••	••••••	••••	a	••••••	
LZC/Lanzhou/China/<2006										
CV777/Belgium/1978	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • • •			• • • • • • • •		• • • • • • • • • • • •	G		
				100000000000000000000000000000000000000						
	110	120	130	140	150	160	170	180	190	200
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2	EGAKTEPTNLOVEK	SEKPITPKES	OOLPSVVETV	PNTPPTSR	NERSESEG	NGNSBSBSPSN	NRGNNOSCGN	SONRGNNOGR	A SONRGGNNN	INNNKS
CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011	LOAKIEFINDOVIK		220223 4414							
VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn	•••••				s	N			• • • • • • • • • • •	
VN/VAP1113 1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/VN/KCHV-310113/2013/HungYen	•••••			••••••	S	NN		•••••	••••••	
GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011				Q	м.	N				
LC/Guangdong/China/2011	•••••			Q	M	N				
AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2012	•••••			Q	М м	NN		• • • • • • • • • •	•••••••	
ZJCZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011				A		N				
IA2/Iowa/USA/2013	•••••	N				N				
KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014	•••••	N				N		• • • • • • • • • •	•••••	• • • • • •
KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014		N				N			· · · · · · · · · · · ·	
USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana		N				N				
13-019349/Co/USA/2013	•••••	N		••••••••••		N		• • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • •
MN/Minnesota/USA/2013						N				
USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2		N				N	. R. .			
USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2	•••••	N		•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••		N		• • • • • • • • • •	•••••	• • • • • •
KNU-1305/Korea/2014						N				
BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011		N				N				
GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012	•••••	N		•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••		N		• • • • • • • • • •	•••••	• • • • • •
AH2012/Anhiu/China/2012		N.		• • • • • • • • • •		N	R	D	•••••	
CH/FJZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/20		N				N	R.			
CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/20	•••••	N	•••••••••	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	••••••	N		••••••••	• • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • •
CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011 Virulent DR13/Korea/1999	D	N	· · · · · · · · · · ·				R.			
Attenuated vaccine/Hubei/China				GA		N				
JS2008/Jiangsu/China/2008				A		N				
Attenuated DR13/Korea/2003	•••••	••••••	••••••	A		N	R	•••••••••	•••••	• • • • •
CH/S/Shanghai/China/1986			· · · · · · · · · · · · ·	A						
SM98/Korea/1998			I	A		N				
LZC/Lanzhou/China/<2006 CV777/Belgium/1978	•••••	•••••		A		N		• • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • •	
				A 4						
				· · · · · · · · · · ·						



	210	1	220	230	240	250		260	270	280	290	300
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2	RNQSKNRNQSN	DRGG	MTSRDDLVAAV	KEALKSLGI	GEKSDRLKQQH	KI KQEI	KSDNSC	KNTPNEN	SRATSKGR	DLKDIPE*ERI	PKGENSVAACS	RPRGG
CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011	•••••	••••	•••••••••	.D	NPQ	•••••	• • • • • •	KK	E .	WR	T.F	3
VN/VAP1113 1/2013/Vinnah/Vieth				.D	NP			KK		WR.	F	3
VN/VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen				.D	NPQ			кк	E .	WR	F	3
GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011	••••••	••••	••••••	.D	Q	. P	• • • • • •	K	E.	WR	F(3
AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011				.D	NPQ	. F			E.		F	3
GD-A/Guangdong/China/2012		• • • •		.D	NPQ	. P	• • • • • •	к.	E .	WR	F	3
ZJCZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013	L	••••	v	.D	NP	. FQ	R S	KK	E.	WR	F(3
KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014			v	.D		. P 1	R. S.		Е.		F	3
KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014	•••••	••••	v	.D	NP.KQ	. P I	R. S.	KK		WR	FC	3
KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014 USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana	•••••		v	.D	NP.K	. P	R.S.	KK KK	Е. Е	WR	FC	3
13-019349/Co/USA/2013			v	.D		. F	R. S.		Е	WR	F	3
IA1/Iowa/USa/2013	•••••	• • • •	v	.D	NP.KQ	. P I	R S		E .	WR	F	3
MN/Minnesota/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2			V	.D		. P	R. S. R. S.		Е.		F	3
USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2			v	.D	NP.KQ	. F I	R. S.	KK	Е.	WR	F	3
USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA	•••••	• • • •	V	.D	Q	. F	R. S.		E .	WR	F(3
RJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011			V	.D		. P	R.S.	KK KK	Е. Е	WR.	F	3
GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012			v	.D	NP.KQ	. P I	R. S.	КК	Е.	WR	F	3
JS-HZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2012	•••••	••••	V	.D	NP.KQ	. P	R. S.	KK	<mark>E</mark> .	WR	F	3
CH/FJZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/20			V	.D	NP.K	.P	R. S.	KK	Е. Е.		F	3
CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/20			v	.D	NP.KQ	. P I	R. S.	КК	Е.	WR	F	3
CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011		• • • •	v	.D	NP.KQ	. F	R. S.			WR	F(3
Attenuated vaccine/Hubei/China	s		v	.D	NP HO	. P	R. S.		Е.	WR.	F	3. . 3. .
JS2008/Jiangsu/China/2008				.D	NP. HQ	. P		KK	Е.	WR	F	3
Attenuated_DR13/Korea/2003	•••••	••••	•••••••••	.D	NPHQ	. P	• • • • • •	KK	E.	WR	F(3
CH/S/Shanghai/China/1986				.D	NPHQ	P		KK.		WR.	F(3
SM98/Korea/1998	N		v	.D	NPHQ	.P		KK	E .	WR	F	3
LZC/Lanzhou/China/<2006	N	••••	V	.D	NP.HQ	. P	• • • • • •	KK	E.	MA.WR	F	3
orr, , bergram, 1970							••••					
		_				-	_					
	31		320	330	340	350	П	360	370	380	390	400
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2	31 ••••• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	SRV/	320	330 I	340	350		360 • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	370	380 - AFKTGNAKPQRE	390	400 I <u>QLNED</u>
CH/GD63/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011	31 I FKNFGDADLV EF.	ERV7	320 DASSYAQIAGL	330 I	340 . GGNVAVRELADS	350 		360 ····I····· VPKSDPNVI	370	380 . I I AFKTGNAKPORF	390 KE KKNKRE TT Q	400 I QLNED .P
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013 1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113 1/2013/VindYu/Viet	31 FKNFGDADLV EF. EF. EF.	ERVVI .KG	320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320	330 I	340	350 		360 I VPKSDPNVI	370 ELLASQVD V V V	380 . AFKTGNAKPORF	390	400 I 2LNED .P
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013 1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VN/KKF-310113/ungTua/Viet VN/VN/KKF-310113/ungYen	31 FKNFGDADLV EF. EF. EF.	ERV71. KG.	320 DASSYAQIAGL G.V.S. G.S. G.S. G.S.	330 	340	350 		360 VPKSDPNVI	370 ELLASQVDA V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.	380 . I I AFKTGNAKPORF	390 (KE KKNKRE TTQ	400
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VM/JFPI013 1/2013/Vinhan/Vietn VM/VAP1113 1/2013/VingTua/Viet VN/VN/KCHY310113/2013/HungYen GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011	31 FKNFGDADLV EF. EF. EF. EF.	ERVVI .KG.	320 DASSYAQIAGL G. V.S. G. S. G. S. G. S. G. S.	330 	340 	350 		360 VPKSDPNVI	370 ELLASQVDR .V .V .V .V .V	380	390 (KE KKNKRE TTQ	400
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/Vinhhan/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/VK/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubej/China/2011	31 FKNFGDADLV EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF.	ERVVI .KG .KG .KG .KG	320 DASSYAQIAGL G. V.S. G. S. G. S. G. S. G. S. G. S. G. S. G. S.	330	340 GGNVAVRELAD	350 		360 VPKSDPNVJ	370 ELLASQVD .V .V .V .V .V .V .V .V .V .V .V .V .V	380 . . AFKTGNAKPORF 	390	400
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2012	31 FKNFGDADLV EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF.	ERV // .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG.	320 	330	340 II.GGNVAVRELAD	350 		360 VPKSDPNVI	370 ELLA SQ VD A . V . V . V . V . V . V . V . V . V . V	380 .II. AFKTGNA KPORE V. 	390	400
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/VAP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VA/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011 JJC24/Jianggu/China/2011 JJ2/Guangdong/China/2011 JJ2/Guangdong/China/2011	31 FRNFGDADLV 	ERV // .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG.	220 10.555XAQIAGL G. V.S. G. S. G. S.	330	340 GGNVAVRELAD	350 		360 VPKSDPNVI	370 LLASQUDA .V. .V. .V. .V. .V. .V. .V. .V	380 II.II. IFKTONA RPOR V. V. V. V. II.	390 CERKNRRE TQ	400
CH/GDGE/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhTan/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingTua/Viet VN/VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen DD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014	311 FRNFCDADLV 	ERV7 .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG	320 1	330	340	350 		360 I VPKSD PNVI	370 LLASQUDA .V. .V. .V. .V. .V. .V. .V. .V	380 .II. AFKTGNA KPQRF V. V. V. V. 	390	400 I DLNED .P
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/Vinhhan/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/VA/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen DD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 dD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA2/IOu#JUSA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014	311 FKNFGDADLV 	ERV // .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG.	220 	330 	340 GGNVAVRELAD	350 		360 	370 ELLASQVD2 -V -V -V -V -V -V -V -V -V -V	380 AFKTGNA KPQRI 	390 	400 I DLNED .P
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 BD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 LJ2/Iowa/Gos/China/2011 LJ2/Iowa/OSA/2011 LA2/Iowa/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014	311 	ERV7 .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG	320 DASSYAQIACI G.V.S. G.S.	330 PRIVALLE	340	350 		360	370 	380 .	390	400
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VunhAn/Vietn VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/VN/KCHY-31013/2013/HungYen GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA2/Iova/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea2014 USDL/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana 13-01394/co/USA/2013	311 FRNFGDADLV BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF		220 DASSYNQIACI G. V.S. G. S. G. S. G. S. G. S. G. S. G. S. G. S. G. S. G. S. G. S. G. S. G. S.	330 APRIVAALLE	340	350 		360 IIII VPKSD PNVI	370 ELLA SQVD3 V V V V V V V V V V V V V	380 IIIII IFKTONA RPOR V. V. V. V. II	290	400 1 DINED .P
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013 1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113 1/2013/VungTun/Viet VN/VAP113 1/2013/VungTun/Viet VN/VKCHY-310113/2013 Hungdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA2/IOwa/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 SA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana 13-019349/Co/USA/2013	311 FRNFGDADLV EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF.	ERV7/ .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG	320 	330 J	340 11	350 		360 .1 .VPKSDPNV 	370 LLASQVD3 V V V V V V V V V V V V V	380	390 KKENKARETTQ	400 i 2E
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet D-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA/100#/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 IN/Minnesota/USA/2013	311 FRNFCDADLV BF. BF. BF. BF. BF. BF. BF. BF.	ERV7 .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG	320 	330 APNVAALLEP	340 1	350 		360 	370 ELLA SQVDA .V V	380 . 	390	400 .PE
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VM/JFPI013 1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VM/VAPI113 1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VM/VN/KCHY310113/2013/HungYen GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA2/IOWA/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 SA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana 13-01934/co/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18894/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18894/2013/Iowa/USA/2	311 FROFCONDLV 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 5	ERV/ .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG	220 1	330 APNVAALLF	340 I I.	350 		360 .1 VPKSDPNVJ	370 V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.V.	380 JEKTGNAKPORI V.V.V.V.V. I	390	400
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 WN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingTua/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingTua/Viet VN/VKCHY-310113/2013 Hungdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA2/IOwa/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 SA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana 13-01934/Co/USA/2013 ISA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Co/Carado/2013/Colorado/USA/2	311 FRNFGDADLV EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF.	ERV/ .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG. .KG	220 1. 1. 1 G. V. S. G. S.	330 1	340 11	350 1. 3YE ITY		360 UPKSDPNV	370 ELLASQUDA V. V. V. V. V. V. V. V. V. V. V. V. V.	380 . . 	390 	400
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/Vinhlan/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingTua/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingTua/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/2013 CGUangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA/102/Hubei/China/2011 IA/102/Mubei/China/2011 IA/21/ova/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/14645/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/14645/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/14645/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/14645/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Courado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Courado/2013/Iowa/USA/2	311 FRNFQDADL EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF.	ERV7 . KG . KG . KG . KG . KG . KG . KG . KG	320 	330 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	340 II.GONVAVRELADI	350 350		360 	370 ELLASUVD V V V V V V V V V V V V V	380 . . 	390 1	400
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFPI013 1/2013/Vinha/Vietn VN/VAP1113 1/2013/Vinha/Vietn VN/VN/KUF*310113/2013/HungYen GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 Al102/Hubei/China/2011 IA/Guangdong/China/2011 IA/Guangdong/China/2011 IA/JIOWA/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 ISA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana I3-01934/co/USA/2013 IA/Iowa/USA/2013 IA/Iowa/USA/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/168984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/168984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/KUN-1305/Korea/2014 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012	311 	ERV7 .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG	320 	330 ARNVAALLP	340	350 SYETTY	1	360	370 ELLASQUDA V V V V V V V V V V V V V	380 . 	390	400
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VunpTua/Vietn VN/VAP113_1/2013/VunpTua/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VunpTua/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VunpTua/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VunpTua/Viet VN/KCRY-310113/2013 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA2/Iova/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea2014 USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana 13-01934/Co/USA/2013 IA1/Iova/USA/2013 ISA/Iova/16984/2013/Iova/USA/2 USA/Iova/16984/2013/Iova/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/COlorado/USA KNU-1305/Korea2/014 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 GD-8/Guangdong/China/2012 JS-BE2012/Jiangs/China/2012	311 FRNFGDADLV BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF	ERVV RG. KG. KG. KG. KG. KG. KG. KG. KG. KG. K	220 111 G.V.S. G.S.	330 .1	340	350 SYE ITY	1	360 1 VPKSDPNVJ	370 	380 I I. AFK TGNA KPORI 	290	400
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013 1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113 1/2013/VingTun/Viet VN/VAP113 1/2013/VingTun/Viet VN/VKCHY-310113/2013 Hungdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA/102/Hubei/China/2011 IA/102/Korea/2014 WIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 WIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 WIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea/2014 USDA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana 13-019349/Co/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/18465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA KNU-1305/Korea/2014 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011 GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012 AH2012/Anhiu/China/2012	311 FRNFGDADLV EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF.	ERVV KG. KG. KG. KG. KG. KG. KG. KG. KG. KG.	320 	330 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	340 11. GGNVAVRELADI	350 SYE ITY		360	370 L. I. V. V. V. V. V. V. V. V. V. V. V. V. V. V.	380 . 	390 11	400
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/Vinhhan/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VinhyViet VN/VAP113_1/2013/Vinha/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/Vinha/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IAJ102/Hubei/China/2011 IAJ102/Hubei/China/2011 IAJ102/Lowa/USA/2013 WIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2013/OUSA/2013 ISA/Iowa/IS465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18921/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/IOWA/2012/II/Iowa/2012 CH/EJND-3/2012/Fujian/China/2012 CH/EJND-3/2012/Fujian/China/2012	311 FRNFQDADLY BF, BF, BF, BF, BF, BF, BF, BF, BF, BF,	KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG K	320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320	330 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	340 II.GONVAVRELADI	350 SYE ITY		360	370 ELLASQUD2 V V V V V V V V V V V V V	380 IIIII IFKTGNARPORE V. V. IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	390 1	400
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFFI013 1/2013/Vinhan/Vietn VN/VAP1113 1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/VAP1113 1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/VAP1113 1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/VAP1113 1/2013/VungTua/Viet VN/VAP113 1/2013/Vina/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana 13-01934/co/USA/2013 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 IN/Minnesota/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/16894/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/COlorado/USA/ KUV-1305/Korea/2014 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 GH/SUZ-3/2012/Fujian/China/2012 CH/SUZ-3/2012/Fujian/China/2012 CH/SUZ-3/2012/Fujian/China/201 CH/SUZ-3/2012/Fujian/China/201	311 FKNFGDADLV BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF	KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG K	220 111. G.V.S. G.S.	330 	340	350 SYE ITY		360 1 VPKSDPNVJ	370 	380 I	290	400 i JLNED.
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 WN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingTua/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingTua/Viet VN/VKEK-310113/2013 Hubei/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA2/IOwa/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 USDA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana 13-019349/Co/USA/2013 ISA/Iowa/I84964/2013/Indiana I3-019349/Co/USA/2013 ISA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/ KNU-1305/Korea/2014 AH2012/Anhiu/China/2012 CH/FUZE/Y11/Henan/China/2011 Virulent_DR13/Korea/1999 Attenuated vaccine/Hubei/China	311 FROFORD LV BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF	ERV7 .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG	320 	330 1 1	30 11	350 YEITY		360 1 Y Y Y	370 	380 . . 	390 11	400 1 1 2
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingTun/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingTun/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingTun/Viet VN/VAP114 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA/102/Hubei/China/2011 IA/102/Vingzu/China/2011 IA/102/Vingzu/China/2011 IA/2/owa/USA/2013 WN/Minnesota/USA/2013 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 INS/Iowa/USA/2013 INS/Iowa/USA/2013 INS/Iowa/18884/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18884/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18884/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18884/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18884/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18884/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/18884/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 H2012/Anhiu/China/2012 CH/FUZ2/11/Henan/China/2011 Virulent_DR13/Korea/1999 Attenuated vaccine/Hubei/China/2005	311 FRNFQDADLY EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF.	ERV/J .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG	320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320	330 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	340 II.GONVAVRELADI	330		360 	370 ELLASUVD V V V V V V V V V V V V V	380 	390 1	400 1 9
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFDI013 1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/JFDI013 1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAD1113_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAD1113_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn VN/VAD113_1/2013/VinhAn/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA2/IOwa/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 BA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana 13-019349/co/USA/2013 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/16865/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/USA/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/USA/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/USA/2012 CH/JJJSA/2012/Jiage/China/2012 CH/JJJSA/JAN/China/2012 CH/JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ	311 FRUFGDADLV EF EF EF EF EF EF EF EF EF EF	ERV7 .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG	220 1	330 	340 I I. I. I. GGNVAVRELADI	350		360 1 VPKSDPNVJ	376 	380	390	400 1 1 23/12 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 WN/SPI013_1/2013/VingTha/Viet VN/VAPI13_1/2013/VingTha/Viet VN/VAPI13_1/2013/VingTha/Viet VN/VAPI13_1/2013/VingTha/Viet VN/KCHY-310113/2011 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA2/Iova/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana 13-019349/Co/USA/2013 IA1/Iova/USA/2013 USA/Iova/16894/2013/Iova/USA/2 USA/Iova/16894/2013/Iova/USA/2 USA/Iova/16894/2013/Iova/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2014 GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012 GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012 AH2012/Anhiu/China/2012 GH/SUZ2/2012/JiangUSA/China/2012 CH/FUZ2/21/1/Henan/China/201 Virulent_DR13/Korea/1999 Attenuated vaccine/Hubei/China JS2008/Jiangus/China/2012 GH/SJAangdon/China/2012 GH/SJAangus/China/2013	311 PRNFCDADLV BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF	ERVVI KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG	220 1111 G.V.S. G.	330 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	340	350		360 1 Y Y Y	370 	380 I I. IFRIGNA REORE V. V. V. I. I. I. I. I. I. I. I. I. I	290 11	004 1 1 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingTun/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingTun/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/VingTun/Viet VN/VAP113_1/2013/2013/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA2/IOwa/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014 SA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana I3-019349/Co/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colcado/2013/Colcrado/USA KNU-1305/Korea/2014 BJ-2011-I/Beijing/China/2012 GH/SJCJ/Jiangsu/China/2012 CH/FJZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/201 Virulent_DR13/Korea/1999 Attenuated vaccine/Hubei/China JS2008/Jiangsu/China/2012 GH/S/Shanghai/China/2012 CH/S/Shanghai/China/2014	311 FRNFGD AD LV EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF. EF.	ERVVI .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG	320 	330 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	30 11	350		360	370 L. I. J V	380 . . 	390 1	400 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VM/JFPI013 1/2013/VinhAr/Vietn VM/JKPI113 1/2013/VinhAr/Vietn VM/VM/KUFY-310113/2013/HungYen GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 LC/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA/1004/USA/2013 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-FED-2014-001/Korea2014 USA/Iowa/USA/2013 IA/1/owa/USA/2013 IA/1/owa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA/2 USA/Colorado/USA/2012 CH/JNDE/ED/2014/2012 CH/JNDE/ED/2014/2012 CH/JNDE/CONA/2012 CH/JNDE/2014/20	311 FROFCORDIV EF EF EF EF EF EF EF EF EF EF	ERV // .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG .KG	320 	330 JAPNVAALLEP	340 I I. I. I. GGNVAVRELADI	350		360 .	370 ELLASQUD V V V V V V V V V V V V V		390 1	400 1
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2 CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011 VN/JFP1013 1/2013/VunqTua/Vietn VN/JFP1013 1/2013/VunqTua/Vietn VN/VAP1113 1/2013/VunqTua/Vietn VN/VAP1113 1/2013/VunqTua/Vietn VN/VAP1113 1/2013/VunqTua/Vietn VN/KCRY-31013/2013 GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011 GD-A/Guangdong/China/2011 IA2/Iowa/USA/2013 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014 SA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana 13-019349/co/USA/2013 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 IA1/Iowa/USA/2013 USA/Iowa/16865/2013/Iowa/USA/2 USA/Colorado/2013/Colorado/USA KNU-1305/Korea/2014 BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2012 CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/201 CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/201 CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/200 CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/201 CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/201 CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/201 CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/201 CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/201 S2008/Jiangsu/China/2012 CH/SJASnangsu/China/2012 CH/SJASnangsu/China/2012 SM-SMShangna/China/2016 SM98/Korea/1998 Lt2C/Lanrbu/China/2006 CY777/Belgium/1978	31 FRNFGDBJV BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF BF	ERV7 KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG	220 111 G.V.S. G.S.	330 	30 CGNVAVRELAD	350		360 1 	376	380 I I I I IFK TGNA KPORE V V V I I I I I I I I I I I I I	290	400 JUNED 2.112 2.12



	410	420	430	440
			.	
CH/GDGZ/2012/Guangdong/China/2	AIYDDVGVPSDVTHANI	EWDTAVDGGI	DTAVEIINEJ	FDTGN*
CHGD-01/Guangdong/China/2011				* *
VN/JFP1013_1/2013/VinhAn/Vietn				* • • • • • *
VN/VAP1113_1/2013/VungTua/Viet				* • • • • • *
VN/VN/KCHY-310113/2013/HungYen				* • • • • • *
GD-1/Guangdong/China/2011				*
LC/Guangdong/China/2011				* • • • • • *
AJ1102/Hubei/China/2011				*
GD-A/Guangdong/China/2012				*
ZJCZ4/Jiangsu/China/2011				*
IA2/Iowa/USA/2013				*
KUIDL-PED-2014-001/Korea2014				* • • • • • *
KUIDL-PED-2014-002/Korea/2014				*
KUIDL-PED-2014-007/Korea/2014				*
USA/Indiana/17846/2013/Indiana				*
13-019349/Co/USA/2013				• • • • • • *
IA1/Iowa/USa/2013				*
MN/Minnesota/USA/2013				* • • • • • *
USA/Iowa/16465/2013/Iowa/USA/2				*
USA/Iowa/18984/2013/Iowa/USA/2				* * * * * *
USA/Colorado/2013/COlorado/USA	•••••	••••	• • • • • • • • • •	* * * * *
KNU-1305/Korea/2014				* • • • • • *
BJ-2011-1/Beijing/China/2011	S	••••		*
GD-B/Guangdong/China/2012	•••••	•••••	• • • • • • • • • •	* * * * * *
JS-HZ2012/Jiangsu/China/2012		••••		*
AH2012/Anhiu/China/2012	•••••	••••	• • • • • • • • • •	* * * * * *
CH/FJZZ-9/2012/Fujian/China/20				* * * * *
CH/FJND-3/2011/Fujian/China/20	•••••	•••••		*
CH/ZMDZY/11/Henan/China/2011	•••••		G	• • • • • • *
Virulent_DR13/Korea/1999	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	••••	• • • • • • • • • •	*
Attenuated vaccine/Hubei/China	•••••	•••••	• • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • *
JS2008/Jiangsu/China/2008	•••••	•••••	• • • • • • • • • •	*
Attenuated_DR13/Korea/2003	•••••	•••••	• • • • • • • • • •	*
SD-M/Shandong/China/2012	•••••	•••••	• • • • • • • • • •	
CH/S/Shanghai/China/1986	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•••••	• • • • • • • • • •	.s*
SM98/Korea/1998	A	•••••	• • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • *
LZC/Lanzhou/China/<2006	A	•••••	• • • • • • • • • •	•••••
CV777/Belgium/1978	A			*

Figure 19. Multiple amino acid sequences alignments of nucleocapsid protein of Vietnamese PEDV isolates with other isolates available in Genbank (Continued).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER V DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

PED first emerged in Vietnam in 2009. Since its emergence, the disease has developed into an endemic stage continuing to cause economic damage to the Vietnamese swine industry. A previous report suggested that PEDV isolates in Vietnam were closely related to Chinese isolates (Duy et al., 2011). The genetic analyses of the study, however, were based on partial S and M gene sequences only. An analysis based on partial S gene sequences alone might skew the epidemiological investigation and evolution studies of the virus. A previous study from China reported that the emergence of a new variant of PEDV was responsible for the recent outbreak in China from 2010 to 2011 (Li et al., 2012), suggesting that there have been 2 variants of PEDV in China. The new variant is genetically distinct from the old variant in the spike gene regions, with two insertions of 4 (⁵⁶GENQ⁵⁹) and 1 (¹⁴⁰N) amino acids at positions 56-59 and 140, respectively, and a deletion of 2 amino acids (¹⁶⁰DG¹⁶¹) at positions 160 and 161. The analysis of partial S gene sequences using the primers reported would not have covered the insertion and deletion regions that would allow for differentiation between classical and new variants. Thus, the question remains as to what type of PEDV currently exists in Vietnam. The results reported in this study reveal the complete genome sequences of three PEDV strains isolated from pigs exhibiting severe diarrhea in Vietnam swine herds in the northern and southern regions of Vietnam. The results reported herein can provide a reference genome regarding sequence data of PEDV in Vietnam, and the sequence information can provide guidance for PEDV control in Vietnam.

For the characterization of PEDV isolates, a phylogenetic tree was constructed based on the complete genome of PEDV isolated from Vietnam and 35 other isolates whose sequencing data were available in GenBank. Deduced amino acids of the complete genome were also investigated. Based on the phylogenetic analysis of the complete genome sequence, three PEDV isolates from Vietnam were grouped together in group G2 along with PEDV isolates from China (isolated after 2010), Korea and the United States. This cluster is genetically distinct from cluster 1, into which CV777, attenuated vaccine isolates and isolates from China (isolated before 2010) and Korea were grouped. The differences between these two clusters are based primarily at the spike gene region (Lee et al., 2010), in which isolates in cluster G2 possess a unique genetic characteristic that involves the insertion of 4 amino acids (GENQ) and 1 amino acid (N) at positions 56-59 and 140, respectively, and a deletion of 2 amino acids (DG) at positions 160 and 161 in the spike gene. Cluster 2 was further divided into 2 sub-clusters designated 2-1 and 2-2. Three PEDV isolates from Vietnam were grouped into sub-cluster 2-1. This sub-cluster includes, in addition to Vietnam isolates, isolates from China that were reported to be responsible for outbreaks between 2011 and 2012. These isolates were separated from Chinese (AH2012), US and US-like Korean isolates, which were included in sub-cluster 2-2. These findings suggest that the PEDV strains isolated in Vietnam are new variants. In addition, the results of genetic analyses suggest a close relationship between Vietnamese and variants of Chinese PEDV isolates that were responsible for the outbreak from 2011 to 2012.

In addition, sequences analyses indicated three Vietnamese PEDV isolates possess some mutation in ORF3, E, M, and N genes. The ORF3 gene is located between the S and E genes, but its function is unknown. Previous studies found that a continuous 49-51 nucleotide region was deleted in the ORF3 gene when PEDV was passaged in cell culture, and this may influence the pathogenicity of PEDV. As such, we can use it for differentiation of wild- and attenuated-type PEDVs (Park et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2010). Sequence analysis described there are ten amino acid changes in the ORF3 gene of Vietnamese isolates. Six of them were found in other PEDV from China and were isolated in 2011-2012 (^V21^A, ^V54^I, ^V79^I, ^L92^F, ^A101^T, and ^N166^S) (Pan et al., 2012), Korean (Park et al., 2011) and US strains in groups G2, 3 and 4 compare to CV777, SM98, and LZC isolates. Four amino acids substitution only occurred in Vietnamese and Chinese strains in group 4 (^L25^S, ¹70^V, ^C107^F, and ^D168^N). Significantly, there is an amino acid change (1203^V) in JFP10113-1 and VAP1113-1, and two in VN/KCHY-310113/2013 strain (^F57^L, and ^C100^R). These mutations may play an important role in the classification of the groups. All PEDV were classified into four groups based on phylogenetic analysis of the ORF3 gene. Vietnamese PEDV strains

were divided in group G4 including seven Chinese isolates (ZJCZ4, GD-1, GD-A, CH/GDGZ/2012, LC, AJ1102, and CHGD-01) with the high amino acid identity up to 98.2%-99.5%. Whereas three Chinese strains (JS2008, SM-D and vaccine attenuated) and attenuated DR13 vaccine strain form Korea, characterized by a 17 amino acid deletion, were separated in group 2.

The N protein also plays the role in transcription of the viral genome, packaging of viral RNA, and the formation of the viral core (Li et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2008), and induction cell-mediated immunity in the host (Saif, 1993). Moreover, since N protein is highly conserved, it is the best candidate protein to be used as an antigen for early diagnosis reagent and vaccine development (Duarte et al., 1993; Tobler et al., 1993). The N gene of Vietnamese PEDV strains has 1326 nucleotide in length, coding for a protein 441 amino acid. None of the Vietnamese PEDV strains were found to have notable insertions or deletions in the N gene. Further, Vietnamese PEDV possess five amino acid substitutions (^N146^S, ^P248^L, ^K312^R, ^G313^V, and ^T356^I) compared to other PEDV strains in this study, and has more one amino acid change from G to P located at amino acid position 84 (except VN/KCHY-310113 isolate) compared to CV777 strain in N gene sequence. In addition, three Vietnamese PEDV isolates was divided in the group 2 (G2) with six isolates in China (CH/GDGZ2012, CHGD-01, GD-1, LC, AJ1102, and GD-A) with nucleotide and amino acid identities ranging from 97.4%-98.7% and 95.0%-97.9%.

The membrane gen (M gene) coded for membrane protein (M protein), a structural membrane glycoprotein and the most abundant envelope component (Utiger et al., 1995). Furthermore, the M protein not only has an important role in the viral assembly process (Nguyen and Hogue, 1997; de Haan et al., 1998), but also consists of antibodies that neutralize virus in the presence of complement (Saif, 1993). It has also been suggested that the M protein plays a role in α -interferon (α -IFN) induction (Laude et al., 1992). In the M gene of Vietnamese PEDV strains, no insertions and deletions were found. The M gene of Vietnamese PEDV strains is highly conserved in the genome sequence. There is one amino acid substitution shared with the recent Chinese and US PEDV isolates (^V42^A) (Chen et al., 2008), and

Vietnamese PEDV also has one change at amino acid 192 (from G to S) compared to other PEDV references.

In 2014, several reports from Asian countries, including Korea, Taiwan and Japan (Choi et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2014), suggested that there has been an emergence of US-like PEDV in Asian countries. The results of our study, however, demonstrate that at present, PEDV in Vietnam is not influenced by US-like PEDV strains. PED is endemic in Korea, Japan and Taiwan. The emergence of US-like PEDV in those countries resulting in severe disease outbreaks warrants serious consideration as to whether immunity induced by previously existing PEDV strains could provide protection from other exotic isolates. The results of disease outbreaks in those countries suggest that cross-protection might not be completely effective. Therefore, in Vietnam, where the emergence of US-like PEDV strains has not yet been reported, intensive surveillance control programs, including the implementation of more surveys and obtaining more isolates to sequence, should be considered. The risk of virus introduction into the country should also be determined, and control programs should be implemented accordingly.

To successfully control PEDV, planned exposure of sows with minced intestines of PEDV-infected pigs has long been suggested (D. Nilubol, 2012b). However, side effects of this management protocol, including an increased percentage of mummified fetuses and risks of contamination by other pathogens, have been recognized (D. Nilubol, 2012a). Vaccination has been implemented as an alternative tool. The degree of successful control, however, is controversial. The route of vaccination and genetically distinct isolates that are used to manufacture vaccines have contributed to the unsuccessful results. Because mucosal immunity, especially secretory Immunoglobulin A, plays an important role in controlling PEDV infection (D. Nilubol, 2012a), intramuscular vaccination with PEDV vaccine might not be completely effective. In addition, genetic differences between the available vaccines and the isolates responsible for outbreaks is of concern. Several studies from China have reported severe PED outbreaks even though vaccination had been extensively used in the herd (Sun et al., 2012). However, the isolates responsible for outbreaks in China from 2011 to 2012 were new variants. The vaccines available are manufactured from isolates known as classical variants, which are genetically distinct from the new variants. Thus, vaccines manufactured from classical variants may not provide an adequate solution for successfully controlling PEDV in Vietnam. A vaccine manufactured from new-variant PEDV in conjunction with the appropriate route of administration could be used to successfully control PED in Vietnam.

Conclusion

The results of the present study demonstrate that PEDV isolates from Vietnam are new variants, share high genetic similarity with the new variants of Chinese PEDV isolates, and possessing a unique characteristic in the spike gene defined by two notation insertions and one deletion markers that are genetically the same as those of isolates responsible for the outbreaks from 2010 to 2012 in China. A new generation of vaccines based on new variant isolates are being developed, planned exposure with PEDV-infected intestines might be an effective prevention strategy in spite of the risk of side effects. This is the first report of the entire genome of PEDV in Vietnam. We hope that this data will provide a better understanding of the molecular epidemiology and genetic diversity of PEDV field isolates in Vietnam and will help to improve the prevention strategy for controlling the disease in the future.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

REFERENCES



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

REFERENCES

- Baudoux P, Carrat C, Besnardeau L, Charley B and Laude H. 1998. Coronavirus pseudoparticles formed with recombinant M and E proteins induce alpha interferon synthesis by leukocytes. J Virol. 72(11): 8636-8643.
- Bi J, Zeng S, Xiao S, Chen H and Fang L. 2012. Complete genome sequence of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus strain AJ1102 isolated from a suckling piglet with acute diarrhea in China. J Virol. 86(19): 10910-10911.
- Carvajal A, Lanza I, Diego R, Rubio P and Cámenes P. 1995a. Evaluation of a blocking ELISA using monoclonal antibodies for the detection of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus and its antibodies. J Vet Diagn Invest. 7(1): 60-64.
- Carvajal A, Lanza I, Diego R, Rubio P and Cármenes P. 1995b. Seroprevalence of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus infection among different types of breeding swine farms in Spain. Pre Vet Med. 23(1): 33-40.
- Chang SH, Bae JL, Kang TJ, Kim J, Chung GH, Lim CW, Laude H, Yang MS and Jang YS. 2002. Identification of the epitope region capable of inducing neutralizing antibodies against the porcine epidemic diarrhea virus. Mol Cells. 14(2): 295-299.
- Chasey D and Cartwright S. 1978. Virus-like particles associated with porcine epidemic diarrhoea. Res Vet Sci. 25(2): 255.
- Chen F, Pan Y, Zhang X, Tian X, Wang D, Zhou Q, Song Y and Bi Y. 2012a. Complete genome sequence of a variant porcine epidemic diarrhea virus strain isolated in China. J Virol. 86(22): 12448.
- Chen JF, Sun DB, Wang CB, Shi HY, Cui XC, Liu SW, Qiu HJ and Feng L. 2008. Molecular characterization and phylogenetic analysis of membrane protein genes of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus isolates in China. Virus Genes. 36(2): 355-364.
- Chen J, Liu X, Shi D, Shi H, Zhang X and Feng L. 2012b. Complete genome sequence of a porcine epidemic diarrhea virus variant. J Virol. 86(6): 3408.

- Chen J, Wang C, Shi H, Qiu H, Liu S, Chen X, Zhang Z and Feng L. 2010. Molecular epidemiology of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus in China. Arch Virol. 155(9): 1471-1476.
- Chen J, Wang C, Shi H, Qiu HJ, Liu S, Shi D, Zhang X and Feng L. 2011. Complete genome sequence of a Chinese virulent porcine epidemic diarrhea virus strain. J Virol. 85(21): 11538-11539.
- Chen Q, Li G, Stasko J, Thomas JT, Stensland WR, Pillatzki AE, Gauger PC, Schwartz KJ, Madson D and Yoon K-J. 2014. Isolation and characterization of porcine epidemic diarrhea viruses associated with the 2013 disease outbreak among swine in the United States. J Clin Microbiol. 52(1): 234-243.
- Cho YY, Lim SI, Kim YK, Song JY, Lee J-B and An D-J. 2014. Complete genome sequence of K14JB01, a novel variant strain of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus in South Korea. Genome Announc. 2(3): e00505-00514.
- Choi JC, Lee KK, Pi JH, Park SY, Song CS, Choi IS, Lee JB, Lee DH and Lee SW. 2014. Comparative genome analysis and molecular epidemiology of the reemerging porcine epidemic diarrhea virus strains isolated in Korea. Infect Genet Evol. 26: 348-351.
- D. Nilubol CK. 2012a. Comparitive efficacy of oral administration of minced piglet intestine vs intramusculor vaccination in the control porcine epidemic diarrhea in gilts. IPVS. P 381.
- D. Nilubol CK. 2012b. Control of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus through intestinal feedback and parity segregation system: field cases. IPVS. P 222.
- de Haan CA, Kuo L, Masters PS, Vennema H and Rottier PJ. 1998. Coronavirus particle assembly: primary structure requirements of the membrane protein. J Virol. 72(8): 6838-6850.
- Debouck P, Callebaut P and Pensaert M. 1982. Prevalence of the porcine epidemic diarrhea (PED) virus in the pig population of different countries. Proc Int Pig Vet Soc Congr. P 53.
- Duarte M, Gelfi J, Lambert P, Rasschaert D and Laude H. 1993. Genome organization of porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus. In: Coronaviruses. ed. (ed.). Adv Exp Med biol.34: 55-60.

- Duy DT, Toan NT, Puranaveja S and Thanawongnuwech R. 2011. Genetic characterization of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus (PEDV) isolates from southern Vietnam during 2009-2010 outbreaks. Thai J Vet Med. 41(1): 55-64.
- Fan H, Zhang J, Ye Y, Tong T, Xie K and Liao M. 2012. Complete genome sequence of a novel porcine epidemic diarrhea virus in south China. J Virol. 86(18): 10248-10249.
- Hanke D, Jenckel M, Petrov A, Ritzmann M, Stadler J, Akimkin V, Blome S, Pohlmann A, Schirrmeier H, Beer M and Hoper D. 2015. Comparison of porcine epidemic diarrhea viruses from Germany and the United States, 2014. Emerg Infect Dis. 21(3): 493-496.
- Hofmann M and Wyler R. 1987. Serologic study of the occurrence of epizootic viral diarrhea in swine in Switzerland. Schweizer Archiv für Tierheilkunde. 129(8): 437.
- Hofmann M and Wyler R. 1988. Propagation of the virus of porcine epidemic diarrhea in cell culture. J Clin Microbiol. 26(11): 2235-2239.
- Huang YW, Dickerman AW, Pineyro P, Li L, Fang L, Kiehne R, Opriessnig T and Meng XJ. 2013. Origin, evolution, and genotyping of emergent porcine epidemic diarrhea virus strains in the United States. MBio. 4(5): e00737-00713.
- Kim SY, Song DS and Park BK. 2001. Differential detection of transmissible gastroenteritis virus and porcine epidemic diarrhea virus by duplex RT-PCR. J Vet Diagn Invest. 13(6): 516-520.
- Kocherhans R, Bridgen A, Ackermann M and Tobler K. 2001. Completion of the porcine epidemic diarrhoea coronavirus (PEDV) genome sequence. Virus Genes. 23(2): 137-144.
- Kweon C, Kwon B, Jung TS, Kee Y, Hur D, Hwang E, Rhee J and An S. 1993. Isolation of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus (PEDV) in Korea. Korean J Vet Res. 33: 249-254.
- Kweon CH, Kwon BJ, Lee JG, Kwon GO and Kang YB. 1999. Derivation of attenuated porcine epidemic diarrhea virus (PEDV) as vaccine candidate. Vaccine. 17(20-21): 2546-2553.

- Laude H, Gelfi J, Lavenant L and Charley B. 1992. Single amino acid changes in the viral glycoprotein M affect induction of alpha interferon by the coronavirus transmissible gastroenteritis virus. J Virol. 66(2): 743-749.
- Lee C, Park C-K, Lyoo YS and Lee DS. 2008. Genetic differentiation of the nucleocapsid protein of Korean isolates of porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus by RT-PCR based restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis. Vet J. 178(1): 138-140.
- Lee DK, Park CK, Kim SH and Lee C. 2010. Heterogeneity in spike protein genes of porcine epidemic diarrhea viruses isolated in Korea. Virus Res. 149(2): 175-182.
- Lee S. Outbreak-Related Porcine Epidemic Diarrhea Virus Strains Similar to US Strains, South Korea, 2013.
- Li B, Liu H, He K, Guo R, Ni Y, Du L, Wen L, Zhang X, Yu Z, Zhou J, Mao A, Lv L, Hu Y, Yu Y, Zhu H and Wang X. 2013. Complete genome sequence of a recombinant porcine epidemic diarrhea virus strain from eastern china. Genome Announc. 1(2): e0010513.
- Li BX, Ge JW and Li YJ. 2007. Porcine aminopeptidase N is a functional receptor for the PEDV coronavirus. Virology. 365(1): 166-172.
- Li W, Li H, Liu Y, Pan Y, Deng F, Song Y, Tang X and He Q. 2012. New variants of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus, China, 2011. Emerg Infect Dis. 18(8): 1350-1353.
- Lin CN, Chung WB, Chang SW, Wen CC, Liu H, Chien CH and Chiou MT. 2014. US-like strain of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus outbreaks in Taiwan, 2013-2014. J Vet Med Sci. 76(9): 1297-1299.
- Luo Y, Zhang J, Deng X, Ye Y, Liao M and Fan H. 2012. Complete genome sequence of a highly prevalent isolate of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus in South China. J Virol. 86(17): 9551.
- Martelli P, Lavazza A, Nigrelli AD, Merialdi G, Alborali LG and Pensaert MB. 2008. Epidemic of diarrhoea caused by porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus in Italy. Vet Rec. 162(10): 307-310.
Marthaler D, Jiang Y, Otterson T, Goyal S, Rossow K and Collins J. 2013. Complete Genome Sequence of Porcine Epidemic Diarrhea Virus Strain USA/Colorado/2013 from the United States. Genome Announc. 1(4).

Masters PS. 2006. The molecular biology of coronaviruses. Adv Virus Res. 66: 193-292.

- Nagy B, Nagy G, Meder M and Mocsari E. 1995. Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli, rotavirus, porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus, adenovirus and calici-like virus in porcine postweaning diarrhoea in Hungary. Acta Vet Hung. 44(1): 9-19.
- Nguyen V-P and Hogue BG. 1997. Protein interactions during coronavirus assembly. J Virol. 71(12): 9278-9284.
- Pan Y, Tian X, Li W, Zhou Q, Wang D, Bi Y, Chen F and Song Y. 2012. Isolation and characterization of a variant porcine epidemic diarrhea virus in China. J Virol. 9(1): 195.
- Park SJ, Kim HK, Song DS, An DJ and Park BK. 2012. Complete genome sequences of a Korean virulent porcine epidemic diarrhea virus and its attenuated counterpart. J Virol. 86(10): 5964.
- Park SJ, Kim HK, Song DS, Moon HJ and Park BK. 2011. Molecular characterization and phylogenetic analysis of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus (PEDV) field isolates in Korea. Arch Virol. 156(4): 577-585.
- Park SJ, Moon HJ, Luo Y, Kim HK, Kim EM, Yang JS, Song DS, Kang BK, Lee CS and Park BK. 2008. Cloning and further sequence analysis of the ORF3 gene of wildand attenuated-type porcine epidemic diarrhea viruses. Virus Genes. 36(1): 95-104.
- Park SJ, Moon HJ, Yang JS, Lee CS, Song DS, Kang BK and Park BK. 2007a. Sequence analysis of the partial spike glycoprotein gene of porcine epidemic diarrhea viruses isolated in Korea. Virus Genes. 35(2): 321-332.
- Park SJ, Song DS, Ha GW and Park BK. 2007b. Cloning and further sequence analysis of the spike gene of attenuated porcine epidemic diarrhea virus DR13. Virus Genes. 35(1): 55-64.
- Pasick J, Berhane Y, Ojkic D, Maxie G, Embury-Hyatt C, Swekla K, Handel K, Fairles J and Alexandersen S. 2014. Investigation into the Role of Potentially

Contaminated Feed as a Source of the First-Detected Outbreaks of Porcine Epidemic Diarrhea in Canada. Transb Emerg Dis. 61(5): 397-410.

- Pensaert M, Callebaut P and DeBouck P. 1982. Porcine epidemic diarrhea (PED) caused by a coronavirus: Present knowledge. Proc. Congr. Int. Pig. Vet. Soc. P 52.
- Pensaert M and De Bouck P. 1978. A new coronavirus-like particle associated with diarrhea in swine. Arch Virol. 58(3): 243-247.
- Pensaert M and Yeo S. 2006. Porcine epidemic diarrhea. In: Disease of swine. 9th ed. B.E. Straw., J.J.Zimmerman., s.D. Allaire. and D.J. Taylor (eds) Blackwell Publ Profl, Ames, IA. 367-372.
- Pijpers A, Van Nieuwstadt A, Terpstra C and Verheijden J. 1993. Porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus as a cause of persistent diarrhoea in a herd of breeding and finishing pigs. Vet Rec. 132(6): 129-131.
- Pospischil A, Stuedli A and Kiupel M. 2002. Update on porcine epidemic diarrhea. J Swine Health Prod. 10(2): 81-85.
- Pritchard C, Paton D, Wibberley G and Ibata G. 1999. Transmissible gastroenteritis and porcine epidemic diarrhoea in Britain. Vet Rec. 144(22): 616-618.
- Puranaveja S, Poolperm P, Lertwatcharasarakul P, Kesdaengsakonwut S, Boonsoongnern A, Urairong K, Kitikoon P, Choojai P, Kedkovid R, Teankum K and Thanawongnuwech R. 2009. Chinese-like strain of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus, Thailand. Emerg Infect Dis. 15(7): 1112-1115.
- Saif LJ. 1993. Coronavirus immunogens. Vet Microbiol. 37(3): 285-297.
- Sambrook J and Russell DW. 2006. Rapid Amplification of 5' cDNA Ends (5'-RACE). CSH Protoc. 2006(1).
- Sestak K and Saif LJ. 2002. Porcine coronaviruses. Trends in Emerging Viral Infections of Swine. Section. 10: 321-330.
- Shirato K, Maejima M, Matsuyama S, Ujike M, Miyazaki A, Takeyama N, Ikeda H and Taguchi F. 2011. Mutation in the cytoplasmic retrieval signal of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus spike (S) protein is responsible for enhanced fusion activity. Virus Res. 161(2): 188-193.

- Song D and Park B. 2012. Porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus: a comprehensive review of molecular epidemiology, diagnosis, and vaccines. Virus Genes. 44(2): 167-175.
- Song DS, Yang JS, Oh JS, Han JH and Park BK. 2003. Differentiation of a Vero cell adapted porcine epidemic diarrhea virus from Korean field strains by restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis of ORF 3. Vaccine. 21(17-18): 1833-1842.
- Stevenson GW, Hoang H, Schwartz KJ, Burrough EB, Sun D, Madson D, Cooper VL, Pillatzki A, Gauger P and Schmitt BJ. 2013. Emergence of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus in the United States: clinical signs, lesions, and viral genomic sequences. J Vet Diagn Invest.25(5): 649-654.
- Sun RQ, Cai RJ, Chen YQ, Liang PS, Chen DK and Song CX. 2012. Outbreak of porcine epidemic diarrhea in suckling piglets, China. Emerg Infect Dis. 18(1): 161-163.
- Takahashi K, Okada K and Ohshima K. 1983. An outbreak of swine diarrhea of a newtype associated with coronavirus-like particles in Japan. Japanese J Vet Sci. 45(6): 829-832.
- Tamura K, Peterson D, Peterson N, Stecher G, Nei M and Kumar S. 2011. MEGA5: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis using maximum likelihood, evolutionary distance, and maximum parsimony methods. Mol Biol Evol. 28(10): 2731-2739.
- Temeeyasen G, Srijangwad A, Tripipat T, Tipsombatboon P, Piriyapongsa J, Phoolcharoen W, Chuanasa T, Tantituvanont A and Nilubol D. 2013. Genetic diversity of ORF3 and spike genes of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus in Thailand. Infect Genet Evol. 21c: 205-213.
- Thompson JD, Higgins DG and Gibson TJ. 1994. CLUSTAL W: improving the sensitivity of progressive multiple sequence alignment through sequence weighting, position-specific gap penalties and weight matrix choice. Nucleic acids research. 22(22): 4673-4680.
- Tobler K, Bridgen A and Ackermann M. 1993. Sequence analysis of the nucleocapsid protein gene of porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus. Adv Exp Med Biol.342: 49-54.

- Utiger A, Tobler K, Bridgen A, Suter M, Singh M and Ackermann M. 1995. Identification of proteins specified by porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus. In: Corona-and Related Viruses. ed. (ed.). Adv Exp Med Biol. 380: 287-290.
- Wang L, Byrum B and Zhang Y. 2014. New variant of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus, United States, 2014. Emerg Infect Dis. 20(5): 917.
- Wei ZY, Lu WH, Li ZL, Mo JY, Zeng XD, Zeng ZL, Sun BL, Chen F, Xie QM, Bee YZ and Ma JY. 2012. Complete genome sequence of novel porcine epidemic diarrhea virus strain GD-1 in China. J Virol. 86(24): 13824-13825.
- Weiss SR and Navas-Martin S. 2005. Coronavirus pathogenesis and the emerging pathogen severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus. Microbiol Mol Biol Reviews. 69(4): 635-664.
- Woo PC, Huang Y, Lau SK and Yuen K-Y. 2010. Coronavirus genomics and bioinformatics analysis. Viruses. 2(8): 1804-1820.
- Yang D-Q, Ge F-F, Ju H-B, Wang J, Liu J, Ning K, Liu P-H, Zhou J-P and Sun Q-Y. 2014. Whole-genome analysis of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus (PEDV) from eastern China. Arch Virol. 1-9.
- Zhao M, Sun Z, Zhang Y, Wang G, Wang H, Yang F, Tian F and Jiang S. 2012. Complete genome sequence of a Vero cell-adapted isolate of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus in eastern China. J Virol. 86(24): 13858-13859.

Chulalongkorn University

APPENDIX

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

APPENDIX A

Isolation PEDV



APPENDIX B

			Mini	Funnel		
		Nuc	leoSpin [®] RNA Virus	NucleoSpin* RNA Virus F		
1	Lysis of viruses	Į	150 μL sample volume 600 μL RAV1 70 °C, 5 min	Đ	1 mL sample volume 4 mL RAV1 70 °C, 5 min	
2	Adjust binding conditions	F	600 μL ethanol	Ð	4 mL ethanol	
3	Bind viral RNA		Load sample stepwise 8.000 x a.		Load sample	
		0	1 min	$ \circ$	3–5 min	
4	Wash and dry silica membrane		1 st wash 500 μL RAW 2 nd wash 600 μL RAV3 3 rd wash 200 μL RAV3	Ð	1= wash 5 mL RAW 2= wash 8 mL RAV3 3= wash 2 mL RAV3	
		ළ	14 and 24 8,000 x g, 1 min	Ö	14 and 2nd 3,000 x g, 3 min	
		ළ	3 rd 11,000 x g, 5 min	ප	3 rd 3,000 × g, 10 min	
5	Elute highly pure RNA		50 μL RNase-free H _s O (70 °C) RT, 1–2 min	Į	50–100 µL RNase-free H _s O (70 °C) RT, 1–2 min	
		Ö	11,000 x g, 1 min	Ö	3,000 x g, 3 min	

Total Viral RNAs of three strains were extracted from the infected Vero culture supernatant using the Nucleospin[®] viral RNA isolation kit (Macherey-Nagel Inc, Germany).

APPENDIX C

Protocol for PCR clean up, gel extraction of the Nucleospin[®] Gel extraction kit (Macherey-Nagel Inc, Germany).

		PCR clean-up	Gel extraction	DNA clean-up (with SDS)	Single stranded DNA clean-up
1	PCR clean-up, DNA clean-up, or. single stranded DNA. clean-up: Adjust binding condition Gel extraction: Excise DNA fragment / solubilize gel slice	200 µL NTI/ 100 µL PCR	200 µL NTI/ 100 mg gel 50 °C 5–10 min	500 µL NTB/ 100 µL sample	200 µL NTC/ 100 µL sample
2	Bind DNA	िल्ला	ک ^{11,0} 3	00 × <i>g</i> 0 s	
3	Wash silica membrane		700 ; 11,0 3	uL NT3 00 x g 0 s mmended: wash µL NT3 000 x g 30 s	
4	Dry silica membrane		<u>د ۱۱٫۵</u>	00 × <i>g</i> min	
5	Elute DNA		15-30 F 1 11,0 1) µL NE RT min 00 × <i>g</i> min	

APPENDIX D

Protocol for plasmid purification of the Nucleospin[®] Plasmid purification kit (Macherey-Nagel, Germany)

_		NucleoSpin ^e Plasmid	NucleoSp Plasmid (No	in® oLid)	Nucleo Plasmid C	oSpin® QuickPure
1	Cultivate and harvest bacterial cells	F	T		F	
		Ö	Ò	11,000 x g 30 s	θ	11,000 x g 30 s
2	Cell lysis	9	9	250 µL. Buffer A1	Ĵ	250 µL. Buffer A1
			-	RT, 5 min	6	RT, 5 min
L				300 µL Buffer A3		300 µL. Buffer A3
3	Clarification of the lysate	Ī	Ţ		J	
		Ö	Ö	11,000 x g 5 = 10 min	Ċ	11,000 x g 5 min
4	Bind DNA			Load supernatant		Load supernatant
		Ö	Ċ	11,000 x g 1 min	Ö	11,000 x g 1 min
5	Wash silica membrane			(Optional: 500 µL Buffer AW) 600 µL Buffer A4		450 µL. Buffer AQ
		Ö	Ċ	11,000 x g 1 min	Ö	11,000 x g 3 min
6	Dry silica membrane	0	0	11,000 x g 2 min	Drying is centr single	s performed during ifugation of the e washing step
7	Elute DNA					
				50 µL Buffer AE RT, 1 min		50 µL Buffer AE RT, 1 min
		Ö	Ċ	11,000 x g 1 min	ð	11,000 x g 1 min

VITA

AUTHOR	Mss Dam Thi Vui
DATE OF BIRTH	18 May 1985
PLACE OF BIRTH	Bac Ninh, Vietnam

Educational credentials

Bachelor of Faculty of Veterinary Science, Hanoi University of Agriculture, Vietnam (2004-2009)

After graduated, she worked at Virology section, National Center for Veterinary Diagnosis, Department of Animal Health, Hanoi, Vietnam during November, 2009 - May, 2013. At present, she received a scholarship "The Graduate Scholarship Program of Faculty Member for Neighboring countries" for giving an opportunity to further MSc study at Veterinary Pathobiology program, Department of Veterinary Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University, Thailand.

Academic presentation

1. Oral presentation on the topic "Complete genome sequence of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus in Vietnam" in the 14th Chulalongkorn University Veterinary Conference (CUVC2015); 20-22 April 2015, Royal Paragon Hall, Siam Paragon, Bangkok, Thailand

2. An announcement in the title "Complete genome sequence of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus in Vietnam" on the GenomeA (Journals.ASM.org)



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University